In-situ Caged Wood Frog (Rana sylvatica) Survival and Development in Wetlands Formed from Oil Sands Process-Affected Materials (OSPM)

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in the Toxicology Graduate Program University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan Canada

By

Blair D. Hersikorn

© Copyright Blair Hersikorn, March 2009 All Rights Reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis. Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Chair of the Toxicology Graduate Program Toxicology Centre University of Saskatchewan 44 Campus Drive Saskatoon, SK, Canada S7N 5B3

PREFACE

This thesis has been organized as a series of manuscripts that will be submitted for publication in scientific journals. Some repetition of introductory and methodological material was unavoidable.

ABSTRACT

Currently there are three companies producing bitumen from the Athabasca Oil Sands Region located near Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada. Extraction of bitumen produces solid (sand) and liquid (water with suspended fine particles) tailings material, called oil sands processaffected materials (OSPM). These waste materials are stored on site due to a "zero discharge" policy and must be reclaimed when operations end. The OSPM is known to contain naphthenic acids (NAs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and has high pH and salinity. A possible method of reclamation is the "wet landscape" approach, which involves using OSPM to form wetlands that would mimic natural wetland ecological functioning. This study investigated the effects of wetlands formed with OSPM on wood frog larvae (*Rana sylvatica*), using endpoints including survival, growth, time to metamorphosis, hormonal status, and detoxification enzyme induction [ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylase (EROD) activity].

In-situ caging studies were completed in 2006 and 2007. Four wetlands were studied in 2006 and 14 wetlands were studied in 2007. The 2006 season saw a host of problems that were resolved for the 2007 season. In 2006, tadpole survival did not differ among reference wetlands and old OSPM-affected wetlands but there was 100% mortality of tadpoles in the young OSPMaffected sites that contain the highest concentrations of toxic components. Results were similar in 2007, with tadpoles raised in young OSPM-affected wetlands having 41.5%, 62.6%, and 54.7% higher tadpole mortality than old OSPM-affected, young reference, and old reference wetlands, respectively. In 2007, tadpoles from young OSPM-affected sites had delayed metamorphosis (12 days longer than tadpoles from old reference wetlands and 18 days longer than tadpoles in old OSPM-affected wetlands). The thyroid hormone ratios of tadpoles in young OSPM-affected wetlands were between 25% and 42% lower than tadpoles in all other wetlands groups. The EROD activity of tadpoles in young OSPM-affected wetlands was an average 223% higher than those in old OSPM-affected wetlands, showing us that tadpoles were responding to higher levels of contaminants in young OSPM-affected wetlands. Size differences were only noted in 2007, most likely not as a result of exposure to OSPM, but due to differences in population density. The results of this study lead us to believe that toxicity due to OSPM decreases as wetlands get older and OSPM-affected wetlands could support native amphibian populations if they are

allowed to mature. Since we considered wetlands to be old if they were seven years or older and the fact that old-OSPM wetlands showed effects on tadpoles similar to those of reference wetlands and showed much less toxicity than young OSPM-containing wetlands, we believe wetlands that are at least seven years old would sustain amphibian life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Judit Smits, for her guidance and encouragement. I am also greatly appreciative of my other committee members Drs. Mark Wickstrom and Barry Blakley, who were always willing to share their expertise. As well I would like to thank my external examiner Dr. Peter Flood for his time and knowledge. Funding for this research was generously provided by the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada as well as our industry partners, Syncrude Canada Ltd., Suncor Energy Inc., Albian Sands Energy Inc., Canadian Natural Resources Ltd., Imperial Oil Ltd., Petro-Canada and Total E and P Ltd.

This research could not have been complete without the help of many people in the field and in the lab, as well as the support of students in the Toxicology Centre. Field work was made much easier by field assistants Hussein Keshwani and Keegan Hicks. Other researchers from the Universities of Alberta, Windsor and Guelph, also working with the Carbon Dynamics, Food Web Structure, and Reclamation Strategies in Athabasca oil sands wetlands (CFRAW) project, made months of living and working in Fort McMurray a blast. Technical support from members of our partner companies was also greatly appreciated. Most notably, Wayne Tedder and Christine Daly of Suncor Energy Inc. and Clara Qualizza, Terry Van Meer, Chris Beierling, Nadia Loubiri, and Lori Cyprien from Syncrude Canada Ltd. Sukhbir Nain, Mandy Olsgard, Niti Gupta, and Brenda Trask, must all be credited for their assistance in the lab.

I would also like to thank Lynnette Dagenais who always had time to help me, as well as my friends and family who were of constant support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
PREFACE	ii
ABSTRACT	. iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	. ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
 CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1 2 4 7 7 7 8 8 9 10 11 11
CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES 2.1 Overall Goal 2.2 Objectives	14 14 14 15
 CHAPTER 3: TADPOLE SURVIVAL, GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT	16 16 18 18 18 21 21 23 23 23 23 28

3.2.7 Whole-Body Triglyceride and Thyroid Hormone Extraction				
3.2.8 Whole-body Triglyceride Quantification				
3.2.9 Statistics				
3.3 Results				
3.3.1 Year One (2006)	32			
3.3.1.1 Problems	32			
3.3.1.2 Survival	33			
3.3.1.3 Tadpole Length, Weight, and Average Daily Length and Weight Gain	33			
3.3.1.4 Whole-body Triglyceride Concentrations	33			
3.3.2 Year Two (2007)	39			
3.3.2 Year Two (2007)				
3.3.2.1 Survival	39			
3.3.2.2 Tadpole Length, Weight, and Average Daily Length and Weight Gain				
3.3.2.3 Whole-body Triglyceride Concentrations				
3.4 Discussion				
3.4.1 <i>Rana sylvatica</i> Survival				
3.4.2 Tadpole Growth				
3.4.3 Whole Tadpole Triglyceride Concentrations				
3.5 Conclusions	50			
CHAPTER 4: TADPOLE ENDOCRINE FUNCTION, METAMORPHOSIS, AND HEPA ENZYME ACTIVITY	ATIC 51			
4.1 Introduction	51			
4.2 Materials and Methods				
4.2.1 Experimental Design				
4.2.2 Time To Metamorphosis				
4.2.3 Thyroid Hormones				
4.2.3.1 Whole-Body Thyroid Hormone Extraction				
4.2.3.2 Thyroid Hormone Quantification				
4.2.4 Liver Somatic Index (LSI)				
4.2.5 Hepatic Detoxification Enzyme Activity				
4.2.5.1 Liver Microsome Production				
4.2.5.2 Ethoxyresorufin -o-Deethylase Activity (EROD)				
4.2.5.4 Total Protein Quantification				
4.2.6 Statistics				
4.3 Results				
4.3.1 Year One (2006)				
4.5.1.1 Time to Metamorphosis				
4.3.1.2 Whole-body Inyfold Hormone Concentration				
4.3.1.3 Resorutin Production				
4.3.2 Fear Two (2007)				
4.5.2.1 Time to Metamorphosis				
4.5.2.2 Whole-body Thyfold Hoffhole Collectivation				
4.5.2.5 Liver weight and Liver Somatic Index (LSI)	01 61			
4.5.2.4 Resolutin Floudenon (EROD activity)	01 60			
AA1 Time to Metamorphosis				
4.4.1 TIME to Inclamorphosis				

 4.4.2 Thyroid Hormone Status 4.4.3 Hepatic Detoxification Enzyme [7-ethoxyresorufin dealkylase (EROD)] Activity 4.5 Conclusions 	. 69 . 70 . 71
CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION	. 73
REFERENCES	. 81

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Wetland descriptions, including size.	24
Table 3.2 List of wetlands and enclosures (four possible in each wetland) studie describing the length of time until the end of study in each enclosure and explanate enclosure was not included in statistical analysis for some or all endpoints. All enused for all analyses unless otherwise stated	d in year two, lons of why an nclosures were 25
Table 3.3 Water chemistry (averages over duration of study)	27

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Map showing Alberta's major oil sand deposits (modified from Source: Einstein, 2006)
Figure 1.2 Diagram outlining the Hot Water Extraction Process (Clark and Pasternak, 1932) that is used for separating bitumen from raw oil sand
Figure 1.3 Map of geographical range of <i>Rana sylvatica</i> (modified from Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, 2006)
Figure 3.1 Year 1 (2006) experimental design diagram Note: Abbreviations are as follows: OSPM – oil sands process-affected material; 4m CT – Four Metre Consolidated Tailings Wetland; Wet Wetland
Figure 3.2 Picture of the experimental trenches on Suncor Energy Inc.'s mine lease
Figure 3.3 Year 2 (2007) experimental design diagram Note: Abbreviations are as follows: OSPM – oil sands process-affected materials; 4m CT – Four Metre Consolidated Tailings Wetland; Wet. – Wetland; NWID – North West Interceptor Ditch Wetland; SWSS – South West Sand Storage Complex; TP 9 – Test Pond 9; TP 5 – Test Pond 5
Figure 3.4 Enclosure design showing landscaping cloth used as shade cloth, enclosure with lid covered with 1600 μ m mesh screen and a stake for securing the enclosure to the bottom of the wetland
Figure 3.5 Year one mean survival ($\% \pm$ S.E.) of <i>Rana sylvatica</i> tadpoles raised in a reference wetland, an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland, and a young OSPM-affected wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference was detected (Kruskal-Wallis, p = 0.027). A tukey post-hoc test determined young OSPM wetlands were different from all others (different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05).
Figure 3.6 Year one mean body weight (g \pm S.E.) of <i>Rana sylvatica</i> tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when $p < 0.05$. No significant difference were detected (ANOVA, $p = 0.371$). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, $p < 0.05$
Figure 3.7 Year one mean body length (mm \pm S.E.) of <i>Rana sylvatica</i> tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when $p < 0.05$. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, $p = 0.266$). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, $p < 0.05$. Different letters

Figure 3.13 Year two mean weight gain per day (g/day \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.226, age p = 0.721, OSPM status p = 0.620).

Figure 3.14 Year two length gain per day (mm/day \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No

Figure 4.7 Year two mean liver weight ($g \pm S.E.$) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone were detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.794, age p = 0.592, OSPM status p = 0.233)...... 66

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AOSAthabasca Oil SandsAEUBAlberta Energy and Utility BoardANOVAAnalysis of VarianceCTConsolidated tailingsdDaysEIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	7-ER	7-ethoxyresorufin
AEUBAlberta Energy and Utility BoardANOVAAnalysis of VarianceCTConsolidated tailingsdDaysEIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	AOS	Athabasca Oil Sands
ANOVAAnalysis of VarianceCTConsolidated tailingsdDaysEIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	AEUB	Alberta Energy and Utility Board
CTConsolidated tailingsdDaysEIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
dDaysEIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	СТ	Consolidated tailings
EIAEnzyme immunoassayEOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Sweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	d	Days
EOREnhanced oil recoveryEROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
EROD7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylaseHPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenylsR. sylvaticaSace synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	EOR	Enhanced oil recovery
HPTHypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axisKSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenylsR. sylvaticaRana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	EROD	7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylase
KSKolmogorov-Smirnov testMFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Sweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	HPT	Hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis
MFTMature fine tailingsNADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	KS	Kolmogorov-Smirnov test
NADPHReduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphateNAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Sweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	MFT	Mature fine tailings
NAsNaphthenic acidsNaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenylsR. sylvaticaRana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	NADPH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NaOHSodium hydroxideNWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvatica</i> Rana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	NAs	Naphthenic acids
NWNatural WetlandOSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenyls <i>R. sylvaticaRana sylvatica</i> SSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
OSPMOil sand process-affected materialsPCBsPolychlorinated biphenylsR. sylvaticaRana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	NW	Natural Wetland
PCBsPolychlorinated biphenylsR. sylvaticaRana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	OSPM	Oil sand process-affected materials
R. sylvaticaRana sylvaticaSSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls
SSCSweet synthetic crudeSWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	R. sylvatica	Rana sylvatica
SWSSSouth West Sands Storage areaT3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	SSC	Sweet synthetic crude
T3TriiodothyronineT4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	SWSS	South West Sands Storage area
T4ThyroxineTHsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	T3	Triiodothyronine
THsThyroid hormonesTPTest pond	T4	Thyroxine
TP Test pond	THs	Thyroid hormones
	ТР	Test pond

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Oil Sands History and Background

Bituminous sands, more commonly known as oil sands, are heavy oil (bitumen) packed between sand particles that are associated with silt, clay, and water (FTFC, 1995). Oil sands deposits are found in many areas of the world including Venezuela and the United States, with some of the largest being located in western Canada (Rogers, 2003).

Oil sands deposits in Canada are found in the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan. In Alberta there are three main deposits that cover an area of approximately 146 280 km² (AEUB, 2006). These deposits are the Peace River, Cold Lake, and Athabasca Oil Sands (AOS) deposits (Figure 1.1). The Athabasca deposit is the largest, covering approximately 102 760 km², and is the only deposit in which conventional surface mining methods are used (AEUB, 2006; Gentes et al., 2006).

The origin of oil sands is a disputed issue (Speight, 1999). The most widely accepted theory as stated by Squires (2005) is called the remote origin by Speight (1999) and states that bitumen was formed by oil that migrated into a sand deposit. At some point after migration, pressure from overburden was removed allowing lighter fractions of oil to escape, leaving heavier portions behind that we call bitumen.

Oil sands have been known to exist for a long period of time. However, it was not until the past century that exploitation of these resources was attempted on an industrial scale. Large scale production of oil by extraction of bitumen from the AOS did not progress beyond pilot projects until the 1960s and 1970s (Scott and Fedorak, 2004). Currently, there are three major companies (Syncrude Canada Ltd., Suncor Energy Inc., and Albian Sands Energy Inc.) mining oil sands using surface mining techniques, with many other surface mining operations in the pre-production phase. Due to recent increases in production, approximately 25 percent of Canada's oil production comes from the oil sands and this amount is expected to increase as demand for oil increases and more companies begin mining (Leung et al., 2003). An increase in production will be accompanied by a large increase in the production of tailings materials and disturbed land. Currently, there is a large amount of research being conducted into reclamation options and their effects on the environment.

1.1.2 Mining

Surface mining operations in the Athabasca oil sands deposit are completed using typical mining methods. Vegetation is stripped and other overlying materials (overburden), such as soil and rock, are removed. Once exposed, raw oil sands are dug up and hauled away using large stripping shovels and heavy-haul trucks (Squires, 2005).

Surface mining techniques are only feasible for bitumen deposits that exist under less than 80 metres of overlying materials (AEUB, 2006). Any oil sands covered by more than 80 metres overburden must be recovered by other, more economically and technologically feasible methods. These include different forms of in-situ oil recovery, such as steam stimulation, in-situ combustion, and other forms of enhanced oil recovery (EOR) that increase the oil's ability to flow (Speight, 2007). After EOR techniques have been employed oil can be pumped to the surface in a fashion similar to conventional oil deposits. Currently less than ten percent of Canada's oil sand deposits are suitable for surface mining (Speight, 1999).



Figure 1.1 Map showing Alberta's major oil sand deposits (modified from Source: Einstein, 2006)

1.1.3 Extraction and Upgrading

Oil bound in the form of oil sand must be extracted from the associated solid particles. The extraction method used today is an adaptation of the Hot Water Extraction Process (Figure 1.2) developed by Dr. Karl Clark (Clark and Pasternack, 1932; FTFC, 1995). Once raw oil sands are mined they are sent to the extraction plant as a slurry of sand and water. In the extraction plant this slurry is mixed with sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and hot water (Clemente and Fedorak, 2005). Tailings water has a pH in the range between 8 and 9 (Rogers, 2003). The increase in pH resulting from addition of NaOH causes naturally occurring carboxylic acids (naphthenic acids) to be come soluble in water. Once naphthenic acids are dissolved, they exhibit surfactant-like properties that aid in the separation of oil from the sand (Schramm et al., 2000). This resulting slurry is then screened to remove materials too large for the upgrading process and sent on to the primary separation vessels, where components of oil sands are segregated based on density. Heavy components such as sand move to the bottom, while bitumen floats to the top as froth and is removed and sent for upgrading (Schramm et al., 2000). The left over materials include sand and water with suspended fine solids.

Once extracted, bitumen is sent for upgrading. The final product of upgrading is called sweet synthetic crude (SSC). The SSC oil has a shorter carbon chain, lower molecular weight, and is less viscous than bitumen. Further upgrading and processing results in the formation of other petroleum products such as gasoline and kerosene. A more in-depth review of upgrading and refining process can be found in Speight (1999 and 2007).

1.1.5 Production of Tailings Materials

Surface mining for oil sands creates a major environmental disturbance by removing large amounts of overburden and oil sand [approximately two of oil sand must be extracted to produce one barrel of crude oil (Mikula et al., 1996)], as well as using large amounts of water in the extraction process. The extraction process also produces large amounts of tailings waste. Approximately four cubic meters of fluid tailings are generated for each cubic metre of oil sand



Figure 1.2 Diagram outlining the Hot Water Extraction Process (Clark and Pasternak, 1932) that is used for separating bitumen from raw oil sand.

that is extracted (Madill et al., 2001). Oil sands tailings are comprised of sand, silt, clays, water, and other dissolved materials. Also associated with the tailings is unrecoverable bitumen, which accounts for approximately two percent (FTFC, 1995) of the final tailings volume (Holowenko et al., 2002). The solid and liquid portions of the tailings waste can collectively be referred to as oil sand process-affected materials (OSPM). Provincial legislation does not allow oil sands companies to discharge any of the tailings waste into the surrounding environment, so all of the OSPM is stored on-site in large ponds (tailings ponds). Here heavier solids, mainly sand, settle out quickly and form a beach in tailings ponds leaving silt and clay (fines) suspended in water. Liquid tailings consist of process-affected water and fine tails. After further settling and compaction of fine particles in water, the resulting material is called mature fine tailings (MFT). The MFT are approximately 30% solids and 70% process-affected water (Mikula et al., 1996).

Another tailings product is called consolidated tailings (CT). The fine tails portion of MFT can take thousands of years to completely settle out if not treated (Mikula et al., 1996). One method of treating MFT is by the addition of coagulants, such as gypsum, which can greatly increase the speed of settlement of suspended fine particles. The coagulated final product is CT, which can help speed reclamation by using the MFT to produce a stable material that can be used in reclamation (Chalaturnyk et al., 2002). Although a large portion (> 70%) of tailings water is recycled back into the process (Quagraine et al., 2005), liquid tailings materials are accumulating at 100 000 m³/ day (Madill et al. 2001). It is predicted that more than one billion cubic metres of tailings will eventually have to be reclaimed (Leung et al., 2001).

As well as the sheer volume of tailings there is concern due to proven toxicity of many tailings constituents to living organisms. Increased salinity, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the form of unrecovered bitumen, and concentrated naphthenic acids are all sources of toxicity in liquid tailings material (Leung et al., 2001). Tailings have been shown to adversely affect fish (Nero et al., 2006a,b; Peters et al., 2007; Siwik et al., 2000), amphibians (Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000), birds (Gentes et al., 2006; Gurney et al., 2005; Smits et al., 2000), mammals (Rogers, et al., 2002), and plants (Renault, 2005).

1.1.6 Reclamation of Mines and Tailings Materials

After mine closure, mining companies are required by law to return the mine lease areas to a state similar to the pre-production state. This means that the area must be able to support a functioning ecosystem, one that can sustain populations of native flora and fauna expected to inhabit the area naturally (Madill et al., 2001).

One method of reclamation proposed is called the "wet landscape approach". This involves the formation of different types of wetlands (ponds, lakes) from tailings materials such as MFT and CT (Gulley and MacKinnon, 1993; Madill et al., 2001). To form these wetlands, mined out pits, which would not allow OSPM to escape, would be lined with tailings (CT and MFT) and filled with process-affected water and/or clean water. In time, it is hoped these created wetlands will support a natural wetland ecosystem (Siwik et al., 2000). However, since tailings materials have been shown to cause toxic effects to wildlife (Gentes et al., 2006) these wetlands have to be proven to become less toxic as they mature and be able to support organisms expected to inhabit the area. This study used a native amphibian, the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*), as a bio-indicator to increase knowledge of the success of detoxification and the ability of wetlands formed with OSPM to sustain populations of indigenous amphibians.

1.2 Bioindicators

The use of bioindicators as a method for assessing environmental impacts caused by human activities has been increasing greatly in recent years (Venturino et al., 2003). A bioindicator, as described in Olsgard (2007), is a living species that can act as an "early warning" of potential toxicity or damage to an ecosystem, as a result of exposure to contaminants. A bioindicator should have an important function in its ecosystem, be widely distributed, and have measurable biological responses that are reproducible when exposed to pollutants. Amphibians can be considered to be good bio-indicators because they are sensitive to contaminant exposure, are representative of aquatic life (Cooke, 1981; Gupta et al., 2007), and have been well studied in relation to environmental problems. Also, amphibian metamorphosis is a highly visible biological change which can be altered by environmental conditions and exposure to pollutants. They reflect both terrestrial (adults) and aquatic (larvae) habitats, and they are also integral to food webs, playing important roles as both a prey and a predator species. For these reasons, *R. sylvatica* (Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000) and other amphibians (Fort et al., 1999; Harris et al., 1998) have been used as indicators of environmental health in various ecosystems.

1.2.1 Amphibian use in Toxicology

The use of amphibians in toxicology has increased in recent years. This has been a result of the acknowledgement that amphibians are sensitive to environmental contaminants, are representative of aquatic life spending their larval (tadpole) life stage in the aquatic environment, and may show readily visible signs, such as deformations, as a result of exposure to contaminants (Cooke, 1981; Storrs and Kiesecker, 2004).

Amphibians are thought to be sensitive to man-made contaminants for a number of reasons. First, their skin is thinner and therefore more permeable to contaminants than other forms of wildlife (Storrs and Kiesecker, 2004). Also, frogs have an area of skin on their abdomen that is more absorptive of water (Wassersug, 1997) and therefore likely to absorb toxicants more readily. Secondly, amphibians have a complicated life cycle that is under highly coordinated hormonal control (Shi, 2000; Fort et al., 2007), which can be used as an indicator of exposure to contaminants. Further, their eggs, larvae, and adult stages may differ in response to exposure to the same toxicants such as pesticides (Cooke, 1972; Harris et al. 2000). As a result, amphibians have been used as test animals in environmental toxicology studies pertaining to many different anthropogenic contaminants, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (Gutleb et al., 2000), petrochemicals (Huang et al., 2007), and pesticides (Freeman and Rayburn, 2005; Fort et al., 2004; Diana et al., 2000).

1.2.2 Amphibian Caging Studies

Amphibian *in-situ* caging studies involve raising amphibians or their larvae in an enclosure or cage. Cages are usually made of a wooden or plastic frame and some type of mesh screen and are located in an area (usually a wetland) to be investigated (Harris et al., 2001).

Recently, amphibian caging studies have been identified as a valuable method for environmental studies in toxicology (Fort et al., 1999; Chinathamby et al., 2006) and ecology (Eaton et al., 2004; Harris et al., 2001). Caging studies allow researchers to control some variables associated with field studies, such as predation and difficulties in obtaining adequate numbers of study organisms. At the same time, caging studies permit researchers to keep environmental parameters such as temperature, photoperiod, and water chemistry identical to those encountered in regular field studies (Harris et al., 2001). In this respect, in-situ caging studies would fall somewhere in between laboratory and field based studies. The trade-off for having a higher density of animals in a restricted area and the need for food supplementation is off-set by the benefit of animals being able to experience naturally encountered conditions.

1.2.3 Wood Frog (Rana sylvatica) Life History

The wood frog is native to the northeastern United States and most of Canada (including the AOS), including Alaska and the Northwest Territories (Figure 1.3). Wood frogs are a species of "true frog", which have the general characteristics of webbed toes on their hind limbs and visible dorso-lateral ridges on their trunk. Wood frogs usually have a dark mask around the eyes. Their color is generally brownish but may range from light brown to green to nearly black (Government of Alberta, 2002).

Wood frogs are generally found in moist, shaded areas such as marshes and damp woodlands. They are quite mobile in search of food items, such as insects and other small invertebrates. The ability of the wood frog to reside as far north as Alaska is due to their ability to endure freezing. Wood frogs endure freezing by increasing the concentration of glucose in cells, which acts as a cryoprotectant (Hemmings and Storey, 1996). Also, the presence of specialized blood proteins, called ice nucleating proteins, control ice formation in body fluids (Storey and Storey, 1992). These proteins also allow them to be active and begin reproductive activities as early as March when ice may still be present on wetlands, which is earlier in the year than any other anurans in the area.

Wood frogs mate between early April and mid-June. The large, round, jelly-like egg masses laid by the females can contain several thousand eggs. Wood frogs congregate at breeding areas and many egg masses are usually found together. Eggs hatch in approximately three weeks into the larval (tadpole) stage. The tadpoles metamorphose into frogs in 6 to 12 weeks depending on water temperature (Government of Alberta, 2002; Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, 2006).

1.2.4 Amphibian Metamorphosis

Anurans, such as *Rana sylvatica*, have a dual life stage after hatching from eggs. Metamorphosis is a period of rapid changes and development from the free swimming, larval (tadpole) form to the mostly terrestrial, tetrapod, juvenile frog stage. During metamorphosis, almost every body system undergoes drastic changes (Degitz et al., 2005). New structures are also formed, such as limbs. A detailed review of amphibian metamorphosis is published by Shi (2000).

Metamorphosis has three phases. First, premetamorphosis occurs without the influence of thyroid hormones (THs). It is distinguished by formation of hind limbs. Secondly, prometatmorphosis is a period of time when THs start to increase in concentration. Thirdly, the metamorphic climax is defined by the emergence of forelimbs, resorption of the tail, and a large spike in the amount of thyroid hormone concentrations. Extensive changes in internal organs, such as remodeling of the gastro-intestinal tract and a change from ammonia excretion to urea excretion within the liver, also take place during the metamorphic climax (Shi, 2000). In the Gosner (1960) format for staging amphibians, the metamorphic climax starts at stage 42. Metamorphosis has been extensively studied and is known to be under control of thyroid hormones and the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis (HPT) (Galton, 1988, 1992; Shi, 2000; Tata, 2006; Fort et al., 2007). After metamorphic climax, the tails of tadpoles are fully resorbed and the organism left is a juvenile frog.

1.3 Biomarkers of Exposure to Contaminants

A biomarker, as defined by Shugart et al. (1992), is a biochemical or cellular change that occurs as a result of exposure to a xenobiotic, which is any foreign chemical naturally occurring or anthropogenic (Klaassen, 2001) that can be measured in a living sample or biological system. In this manner, biomarkers are similar to bio-indicator species in that they can act as an early warning system, allowing researchers to detect changes in a test organism or population of organisms before visible changes, such as direct physical damage or reduced survival, occur. Common biomarkers that can be measured are hormones, detoxification enzymes, enzyme activities, and immunological changes. Smits et al. (1996, 2002) have used immune function changes to monitor responses of mink (*Mustela vison*) to effluent from a Kraft pulp mill and American kestrels (*Falco sparverius*) to PCBs. Ethoxyresorufin dealkylase (EROD) activity, an enzymatic assay that is used to detect exposure to contaminants, has been used by Gauthier et al. (2004) in the amphibian *Xenopus laevis* in relation to river contamination. Also in amphibians, analysis of different parts of the thyroid system have been used as biomarkers of exposure to cadmium (Sharma and Patino, 2008), PCBs (Gutleb et al., 2000) and estrogenic compounds (Hogan et al., 2006).

1.3.1 Thyroid hormones (T3 and T4)

Thyroid hormones (THs) have widespread functions in the body. In amphibians there are two main THs, thyroxine (T4) and the more biologically active triiodothyronine (T3). They control basal metabolic rates and growth rates in many species (Brent, 1994; Helbing et al., 2006). T4 is the main product secreted by the thyroid glands. However, for thyroid hormones to be active, T4 must be converted to T3. This is done mainly in peripheral tissues, most notably the liver, but can also be done in the thyroid gland, by 5-deiodinase (Fort et al., 2007). Another deiodinase enzyme 5-deiodinase can convert T3 and T4 to reverse T3 (rT3) and T2 respectively. To cause a change in physiology, THs must bind to thyroid hormone receptors (TRs) located in the nucleus of cells. By binding to TRs, thyroid hormones alter gene expression and ultimately cause the intended change. Since rT3 and T2 have low affinity for thyroid hormone receptors they effectively inhibit or inactivate thyroid hormone (Shi, 2000).

In amphibians such as *R. sylvatica*, thyroid hormones control the highly specialized process of metamorphosis (Brown and Cai, 2007; Denver, 1997; Galton, 1988; Shi et al., 1996; Tata, 2006). Without thyroid hormones, metamorphosis will not progress, resulting in abnormally large tadpoles that never complete the change to frogs (Shi, 2000). Fort (2007) describes six areas of control of thyroid hormone and their function. Each of these areas could be possible targets for toxicants and could lead to alterations in thyroid hormone production and function, ultimately leading to alterations in metamorphosis. In-depth reviews of thyroid hormone and amphibian metamorphosis are given by both Shi (2000) and Fort (2007).

Due to the important functions of THs in many species, many studies have investigated the effects of chemicals that can potentially interfere with thyroid hormone, effectively using them as a biomarker. Oil sands process-affected material caused an increase in thyroid hormone in tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*), while PCBs suppressed THs in American kestrels (*Falco sparverius* (Smits et al., 2002). In amphibians, cadmium altered thyroid gland activity (Sharma and Patino, 2008).



Figure 1.3 Map of geographical range of *Rana sylvatica* (modified from Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, 2006).

CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES

2.1 Overall Goal

The main purpose of this research is to determine how wetlands formed from oil sands process-affected materials (OSPM) may affect the survival and development of *Rana sylvatica* larvae, which are expected to inhabit reclaimed wetlands after mine closure and reclamation. Furthermore, this study will determine how the effects of OSPM created wetlands on *R. sylvatica* larvae may change as the wetlands mature by comparing wetlands formed with OSPM that are of different ages.

2.2 Objectives

1) To raise *Rana sylvatica* larvae (tadpoles) from early pre-metamorphic stages until metamorphic climax in cages placed in wetlands of different ages that either contain OSPM or do not contain OSPM.

2) To measure physiological variables such as length, weight, and energy metabolism through triglyceride concentrations, as well as survival, which may show measurable changes as a result of the chemical differences in the wetlands.

3) To examine effects on development and metamorphosis related to differences in wetlands through endocrinological endpoints, specifically thyroid hormone (T3 and T4) status.

4) To determine liver ethoxyresorufin-*o*-dealkylase (EROD) induction. This reflects biotransformation efforts of tadpoles that are exposed to different levels of contaminants through placement in OSPM and reference wetlands.

2.3 Hypotheses

<u>Null Hypothesis 1-</u> There will be no difference in *Rana sylvatica* larval survival, growth and development, thyroid hormone concentrations, EROD enzyme activity, and whole body triglyceride concentrations as a result of being raised in OSPM-affected wetlands compared with reference wetlands.

<u>Null Hypothesis 2-</u> *Rana sylvatica* larval survival, growth and development, thyroid hormone concentrations, EROD enzyme activity, and whole body triglyceride concentration, will not be affected by the maturity (age) of the wetlands.

CHAPTER 3: TADPOLE SURVIVAL, GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

3.1 Introduction

The demand for oil is increasing, while reserves of oil are decreasing. As a result, production of oil from unconventional oil deposits, such as Alberta's oil sands, is increasing rapidly. There are currently three companies using surface mining to excavate oil sand, from which bitumen (heavy crude oil) is then extracted. Oil sands production accounts for approximately 25% of Canada's total crude oil production and this percentage is expected to increase as more companies begin production (Leung et al., 2003).

Crude oil that is extracted from oil sand is dense and highly viscous. In the ground bitumen is associated with sand, fine clay particles, and water (Speight, 2007). Surface mining of oil sands involves clearing land, digging out raw oil impregnated sand with excavation equipment, and transporting the oil sand with heavy haul trucks to the extraction facilities (ECT, 1995). Bitumen is separated from the associated materials by a hot water floatation process (Clark and Pasternak, 1932). This produces large quantities of solid (sand) and liquid (process-water containing suspended fine particles) wastes, called tailings or oil sands process-affected materials (OSPM), which are stored on mine sites in large dyked tailings ponds. Quagraine et al. (2005) states that by the year 2025 as much as one billion cubic metres of OSPM may be stored in tailings ponds. Government legislation requires the mine sites to be returned to a state similar to that of the area before production began (Madill et al., 2001). One strategy adopted by the oil sands industry to achieve this reclamation, the "wet landscape approach", involves the use of

stored tailing material to form lakes, ponds, and other types of "constructed wetlands" expected to cover 20 to 40% of the final landscape (Bendell-Young et al., 2000; Gentes et al., 2006; Siwik et al., 2000).

Since these constructed wetlands are meant to form a working ecosystem over time, they must be able to support communities of wildlife that would naturally inhabit the region. This may be problematic since OSPM and some of its constituents can be toxic to many organisms such as plants (Renault et al., 1998), amphibian larvae (Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000), mammals (Rogers et al., 2002), fish (Nero et al., 2006a; van den Heuvel et al., 2000), aquatic invertebrates (Leung et al., 2003), and bird species (Gentes et al., 2006; Smits et al., 2000). It is thought that increased concentrations of salts, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and naphthenic acids (NAs) are the main cause of the toxicity to wildlife (Gentes et al., 2007; Nero et al., 2006a, b). However, OSPM toxicity is expected to diminish over time (Leung et al., 2003). Little is known about the effects of OSPM on amphibians, and chronic, low grade toxicity may interfere with the formation of a stable ecosystem that can support amphibian life.

Amphibians that are native to the northern boreal regions, such as the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*) are expected to live in and around wetlands formed with OSPM. The larvae (tadpoles) of the wood frog are entirely aquatic until they complete metamorphosis. Amphibians and their larvae have been used as model subjects in many types of toxicological and ecological studies including investigations of the effects of pesticides (Cooke, 1972, 1981; Materna et al., 1995), industrial wastes (Huang et al., 2007; Snodgrass et al., 2004), and oil sands tailings water (Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000). Recently, the use of confining amphibians in a wetland of interest (*in-situ* caging) has been recognized as a practical method for toxicology studies. Caging reduces variables associated with field collection of wild specimens (predation, stress/unreliability of capture, variations in diet, and unknown confounding elements), while still exposing amphibians to realistic environmental conditions such as light, temperature, and water chemistry (Harris et al., 2001). For these reasons *R. sylvatica* larvae are excellent subjects for an in-situ toxicological study of wetlands formed with OSPM. This study is intended to provide information on the viability of using wetlands containing OSPM, as part of a reclamation strategy that could be implemented by oil sands companies in northern Alberta.

During the course of this study, survival, growth, and developmental (morphometric) endpoints of indigenous *R. sylvatica* larvae were assessed to determine the ecological sustainability of the wetlands, and whether this sustainability held true for wetlands of different ages. Triglyceride concentration in the larvae was also measured to reveal possible alterations in energy storage or use by amphibians exposed to OSPM, which may reduce their ability to flourish in such ecosystems. This study was part of a multi-university collaborative project called Carbon Dynamics, Food Web Structure, and Reclamation Strategies in Athabasca Oil Sands Wetlands (CFRAW).

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Experimental Design

3.2.1.1 Year One Experimental Design

In year one, four wetland sites were chosen for the study (Figure 3.1). Two sites contained OSPM and two did not, the latter being considered reference sites. Of these four wetlands, one OSPM and one reference site were experimental trenches on the Suncor mine lease (Figure 3.2), each consisting of three similar trenches. The three OSPM-impacted trenches were filled with water from Natural Wetland, a wetland formed from tailings water (OSPM) seepage on the Suncor lease; the three reference trenches were filled with water from Weir 1, a commonly used source of 'clean' water unaffected by mining and extraction activities, on the Suncor lease site. The two other sites were single, distinct bodies of water. One was a reference wetland off Tower Road, 20 km from the oil sands leases near the city of Fort McMurray, Alberta. The other was called 4m CT, an OSPM-affected created wetland on the Suncor lease site. Three enclosures were placed in each wetland or trench and forty young tadpoles were placed in each mesocosm. Tadpoles were collected from a wetland, Bill's Lake, which did not contain OSPM-containing but was located on the Syncrude Mildred Lake lease site. Tadpoles were fed boiled lettuce *ad libitum*. Uneaten lettuce was removed from the enclosures and replaced with new lettuce every second day.



Figure 3.1 Year 1 (2006) experimental design diagram Note: Abbreviations are as follows: OSPM – oil sands process-affected material; 4m CT – Four Metre Consolidated Tailings Wetland; Wet. - Wetland



Figure 3.2 Picture of the experimental trenches on Suncor Energy Inc.'s mine lease.

3.2.1.2 Year Two Experimental Design

The year two (2007) design (Figure 3.3) was greatly expanded to encompass 14 different sites, seven reference sites (no OSPM) and seven OSPM impacted sites. All cages were placed directly in the wetland to be studied, with no use of experimental trenches. Also, all wetlands were categorized by age. Wetlands were considered "young" if they were seven years old or less, and "old" if they were eight years or older. In year two I also increased the number of enclosures per wetland from three to four. Also, the number of tadpoles placed in each mesocosm was increased to 50 individuals. Tadpoles were collected from Bill's Lake. Tadpoles were fed boiled lettuce *ad libitum*. Uneaten lettuce was removed from the enclosures and replaced with new lettuce every second day.

3.2.1.3 Wetland Selection and Classification

Wetlands of the four classes (young OSPM, old OSPM, young reference, and old reference) were available in different numbers since they were selected on the basis of relevance to a multi-university collaborative project, availability, and security. Firstly, wetlands were selected because of their inclusion and relevance to a multi-disciplinary ecological study of wetlands formed with OSPM (CFRAW). A suite of wetlands was chosen for CFRAW and these wetlands were used in several research projects as part of CFRAW. Secondly, large numbers of OSPM wetlands were available, while relatively few young reference sites were available. Reference wetlands were wetlands containing no OSPM, but could be man-made or naturally occurring. Finally, only wetlands located on a mine site were chosen to prevent unwanted human disturbances. These were three limiting factors causing unequal numbers of wetlands among the four wetland classes.

Enclosures from each wetland were used to provide tadpoles for all analyses, unless problems were encountered that made samples unavailable or unreliable. Some reasons for not including certain enclosures in analyses were physical damage to enclosures allowing escape of tadpoles, large changes in water levels (evaporation/draining) altering metamorphosis or survival, and death of tadpoles resulting in inadequate numbers of tadpoles for all analyses.


Figure 3.3 Year 2 (2007) experimental design diagram Note: Abbreviations are as follows: OSPM – oil sands process-affected materials; 4m CT – Four Metre Consolidated Tailings Wetland; Wet. – Wetland; NWID – North West Interceptor Ditch Wetland; SWSS – South West Sand Storage Complex; TP 9 – Test Pond 9; TP 5 – Test Pond 5

Complete lists of all enclosures and analyses they were used in are provided in Tables 3.1 and 3.2.

3.2.3 Enclosure Design

Enclosure design was adopted and modified from several sources (Harris et al., 2001; Materna et al., 1995). The design used in this study (Figure 3.4) consisted of a rectangular wooden frame measuring 76 cm x 44.5 cm x 44.5 cm. A wooden framed lid, secured in place with removable nails, also measured 76 cm x 44.5 cm. The sides and bottom of the rectangular frame and the associated lid were covered with 1600 μ m fiberglass mesh. Wooden stakes were also attached to the frame allowing the enclosures to be secured in the wetlands. Black landscaping cloth was attached to one side of the lid and draped over one side of the enclosure, acting to shade the developing larvae. When placed in wetlands, approximately three quarters of the enclosures' total height was submerged. The initial density of tadpoles in each mesocosm was approximately 0.44 tadpoles per litre.

3.2.4 Study Duration

Tadpoles were added to the enclosures at early pre-metamorphic stages (approximately stages 24 to 26) and were kept in the enclosure until they reached metamorphic climax (stage 42). I called this period the "time to metamorphosis". The method I used for determining the stage of development was that of Gosner (1960). The study was ended on an enclosure-by-enclosure basis at the time when greater than 75 percent of the remaining tadpoles reached metamorphic climax.

3.2.5 Tadpole Survival

Year 1 Tadpole survival was the percentage of tadpoles alive at the end of the study period out of the original 40 individuals.

Year2 Tadpole survival was measured and reported as the percentage of tadpoles surviving out of the original 50 individuals, after 52 days. Enclosures were checked every second day and dead or dying tadpoles were removed.

23

Wetland	OSPM Status	Age	$Area (m^2)$	Other Information	
	Status	Aye	Alea (III)	Located at Syncrude Canada's	
Bill's Lake	Reference	Old	5821	South Hills	
Peat Pond	Reference	Young	6624	Located at Syncrude Canada's South Hills	
Golden Pond	Reference	Young	5677	Located at Syncrude Canada's South Hills	
Mike's Pond	OSPM	Young	16920	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
Test Pond 5	OSPM	Old	675	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
Test Pond 9	OSPM	Old	3732	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
West Interceptor Ditch Wetland	Reference	Old	3155	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
South West Sands Storage (Flood Wetland)	OSPM	Young	11954	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
Test Pond 14 (Shallow Wetland)	Reference	Old	35000	Located on Syncrude Canada's mine lease	
Natural Wetland	OSPM	Old	12227	Located on Suncor Energy Inc.'s mine lease	
High Sulfate Wetland	Reference	Old	2394	Located adjacent to Suncor Energy Inc.'s mine lease	
Weir 1	Reference	Old	56419	Gravel pit filled with water on Suncor Energy Inc.'s mine lease	
4 Metre CT - No Peat Zone	OSPM	Young	4006	Located on Suncor Energy Inc's mine lease	
4 Metre CT - Peat Zone	OSPM	Young	4006	Located on Suncor Energy Inc's mine lease	

Table 3.1 Wetland descriptions, including area (m^2) .

Table 3.2 List of wetlands and enclosures (four possible in each wetland) studied in year two describing the length of time until the end of study in each enclosure and explanations of why an enclosure was not included in statistical analysis for some or all endpoints. All enclosures were used for all analyses unless otherwise stated.

		Days To End		
		of		
Wetland	Enclosure	Study	End Points Analyzed	
Bill's Lake	1	62	All Bill's Lake enclosures were used in all analysis	
	2	62	with the exception of #1 and #2 in the trialvceric	
	3	62	assay and #1 in the EROD assay	
	4	62		
Peat Pond	1	58		
	2	58	Used in all analyses	
	3	58		
	4	58		
Golden Pond	1	58		
	2	58	l Ised in all analyses	
	3	58		
	4	58		
Mike's Pond	1	66	Used in all analyses	
	2	68	Used in all analyses	
	3	68	Not used in triglyceride analysis - too little extract	
			Not used in any analyses except survival due to	
	4	N/A	death of all tadpoles before metamorphosis	
Test Pond 5	1	52	All Test Pond 5 enclosures used in all analyses	
	2	52	except #1 and #2 were not used in triglyceride	
	3	52	assay - not enough extract after thyroid hormone	
	4	52	assay	
Test Pond 9	1	55		
	2	56	Llood in all analyses	
	3	56	Used in an analyses	
	4	56		
West Interceptor Ditch	1	60		
Wetland (WID)	2	60		
	3	60	Used in all analyses	
	4	60		
South West Sands Storage (Flood Wetland)	1	N/A		
	2	N/A	All Flood Wetland enclosures were used in	
	3	N/A	survival analyses only – due to death of all	
	4	N/A	tadpoles before metamorphosis	
Test Pond 14 (Shallow	1	60	Used in all analyses	
Wetland)	2	60	Used in all analyses	
	3	60	Used in all analyses	
	4	N/A	Not used in any analyses - enclosure damaged	
Natural Wetland	1	N/A	No Natural Wetland enclosures were used in any	
	2	N/A	analyses except survival - death of all tadpoles	
	3			
	3	IN/A		

	4	N/A			
High Sulfate Wetland	1	57			
	2	57	Llood in all analyzes		
	3	56	Used in an analyses		
	4	57			
Weir 1	1	N/A	Not used in any analyses - enclosure damage		
	2	58	Used in all analyses		
	3	58	Used in all analyses		
	4	58	Used in all analyses		
4 Metre CT - No Peat Zone	1	75	Used in all analyses		
	2	75	Used in all analyses		
	3	75	Used in all analyses		
			Not used in any analyses except survival-death		
	4	N/A	tadpoles		
4 Metre CT - Peat Zone	1	75	Used in all analyses		
			Not used in any analyses except survival-death of		
	2	N/A	tadpoles		
	3	75	Used in all analyses		
	4	N/A	Not used in any analyses - enclosure damaged		

Wetland	рН	Conductivity (µs/cm)	Naphthenic Acids	Dissolved Oxygen	NH4 (mg/L)
			(mg/L)	(mg/L)	
Bills Lake	7.38	531.7	0.68	10.10	0.26
Peat Pond	7.90	1058	0.62	7.50	0.34
Golden Pond	8.54	1154	1.68	8.00	0.15
Mike's Pond	8.58	4047.5	22.76	9.83	0.68
Test Pond 5	8.75	2224	10.23	10.15	0.67
Test Pond 9	8.96	1946.5	20.30	9.530	0.16
Test Pond 14 ^a	8.09	373	0.73	7.23	0.43
WID ^b	7.99	582.5	0.87	8.40	0.58
SWSS ^c	8.08	4130	40.80	N/A	N/A
Natural Wet. ^d	8.55	1463.3	53.00	10.60	0.66
HS ^e	8.55	3380	7.0	8.16	0.45
4m CT peat ^f	8.38	2695	35.65	7.10	BDL
4mCT no peat ^f	8.09	2770	30.90	7.30	0.24

Table 3.3 Water chemistry (averages over duration of study)

^aAlso called Shallow Wetland ^bWID – West Interceptor Ditch Wetland ^cFlood wetland on South West Sands Storage area

^dNatural Wetland

^eHigh Sulfate Wetland ^fTwo different areas of the same wetland – one area peat amended, one area no peat amendment

3.2.6 Tadpole Length, Weight, and Average Daily Length and Weight Gain

Both tadpole weight and length were measured immediately following euthanasia at the termination of the field study. Length (snout to tail) was measured with a Westward electronic caliper (Acklands-Grainger, Fort McMurray, AB, Canada). Body weight was measured with a Sartorius TE313S scale (max 310 g, d = 0.001) (Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany) after drying excess moisture from the tadpole by gentle blotting with tissue paper and placing the tadpole on a piece of laboratory film.

Average daily length and weight gain were determined by dividing the tadpole's length and weight by the number of days the tadpole was caged (time to metamorphosis).

3.2.7 Whole-Body Triglyceride and Thyroid Hormone Extraction

The method for extraction used was developed from Brasfield et al. (2004). Whole tadpoles and livers removed from selected tadpoles were frozen in liquid nitrogen (Praxair, Saskatoon, SK, Canada) immediately following collection and measurement of body weight and body length. A total of five tadpoles were sampled from each enclosure. Once returned to the Toxicology Centre in Saskatoon, SK, samples were transferred to a -80 °C freezer until the time of sample preparation and analysis.

The same whole body extract from the tadpole was used for both triglyceride and thyroid hormone quantification. During sample homogenization and extraction, all materials (scissors, forceps, glass tubes, etc.) and buffers were placed on ice. Homogenization buffer consisting of 1mM 6-propyl-2-thiouracil (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) in 95% ethanol was made prior to extraction and stored at -20 °C in a glass bottle. The first step in both extraction processes was to remove the tadpoles from cryovials and place them in plastic weigh boats (VWR International, Mississauga, ON, Canada). A volume of homogenization buffer equal to that of the tadpole was then added. Tadpoles were finely minced using scissors and transferred along with the buffer to a 16 mm x 100 mm glass culture tube (VWR International, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Another volume of homogenization buffer equal to the tadpole homogenization buffer uses tube.



Figure 3.4 Enclosure design showing landscaping cloth used as shade cloth, enclosure with lid covered with 1600 μ m mesh screen and a stake for securing the enclosure to the bottom of the wetland.

Further homogenization was completed using a Tissue Tearor (BioSpec Products, Inc., Bartlesville, OK, USA) in three bursts of ten seconds each. Next, samples were vortexed vigorously for one minute, then stored on ice. Each sample was then centrifuged at 2900 rpm at 4 °C for ten minutes in an Eppendorf 5810 R centrifuge and swinging bucket rotor [model A-4-62 (Eppendorf Canada, Mississauga, ON, Canada)]. Supernatant was carefully removed and transferred to a clean glass tube. Another volume equal to twice the volume of the tadpole was then added to the remaining pellet, which was then re-suspended by vortexing for one minute. The re-suspended homogenate was then centrifuged again, as described above. The resulting supernatant, which contained ethanol used in the extraction, thyroid hormones, and triglycerides was again carefully poured off and combined with the previous supernatant. This sample was then evaporated under a stream of nitrogen in a water bath at 50 °C so that the final volume was equal to that of the initial tadpole. Once the desired volume was reached, the extract was divided into as many 150 μ l aliquots as possible and stored at –80 °C until assays were completed.

3.2.8 Whole-body Triglyceride Quantification

Quantification of total body triglycerides was completed using clinical kit reagents from Sigma Aldrich (Oakville, ON, Canada). The method was adopted from McGowan et al. (1983). For this assay, aliquots of the tadpoles previously homogenized and extracted with ethanol, were removed from the -80 °C freezer and stored on ice until sufficiently thawed. Samples were vortexed vigorously, and then centrifuged at 2500 rpm for five minutes at 4 °C to ensure samples were free of un-dissolved matter. For quantification, pure glycerol standard (Sigma #G7793-5ml) was diluted with 95% ethanol to concentrations ranging from 0.0391 mg/ml to 2.5 mg/ml to form a standard curve. First, 180 µl of reagent A (glycerol kinase; Sigma #F6428-40ml) and 10 µl of all standards and samples were added in duplicate to a clear, flat-bottom, Nunc 96-well plate (VWR International, Mississauga, ON, Canada). The plate was then incubated at 37 °C for five minutes in the same microplate spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) that was used for reading the plate. After shaking, 45 µl of reagent B (lipase; Sigma #T2449-10ml) was added to all wells. The plate was then shaken again for 20 minutes at 37 °C, after which the plate was read at 540 nm. The final concentration of triglycerides in each well was calculated by comparing the reading from each sample to the glycerol standard curve.

3.2.9 Statistics

In year two (2007), each wetland was not compared to each of the other wetlands separately. Based on the knowledge that as OSPM-affected wetlands get older there is a reduction in toxicity, due to bioremediation, I grouped wetlands according to their age (either young or old) and OSPM status (OSPM or no OSPM). I assumed that wetlands of the same group (young OSPM-affected, old OSPM-affected, young reference, old reference) have similar characteristics, such as concentration of NAs. This method of grouping allowed me to complete the two-way ANOVA described below to test the hypothesis that there will be an interaction between age and OSPM status of wetlands. I predicted that older OSPM-affected wetlands would be similar to reference wetlands and much less toxic than young OSPM-affected wetlands.

Statistics were carried out using SPSS statistical software package (Version 16.0.1., SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The level of significance was p < 0.05. All data were tested for normality and equality of variances assumptions using the Shapiro-Wilks test and Levene's test, respectively. In year one, the experimental design was planned for a two-way ANOVA. However, due to loss of a reference site, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if there were differences in survival (percentage of initial numbers), body weight, body length, and concentration of triglycerides (whole-body) among the three remaining experimental sites. If assumptions of normality or homogeneity of variances were violated, data presented as percentages were arcsin square root transformed, and regular, numeric data were log₁₀ transformed. If assumptions were met after transformation, an ANOVA was performed on the transformed data. If assumptions could not be met the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was performed. In year two, if assumptions were met, a two-way ANOVA was completed on the same variables as in year one. Age of wetlands (young or old) and OSPM status (OSPM or no OSPM) of the wetlands were the two factors in the two-way ANOVA. If assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances were violated the same method for transforming data as in year one was taken. After transformation, if assumptions were met a two-way ANOVA was performed. If assumptions were not met, the Scheirer-Ray-Hare extension of the Kruskal-Wallis test [a non-parametric variation of a two-way ANOVA test (Sokal and Rohlf, 2003)], was performed as in Rickwood et al. (2008).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Year One (2006)

3.3.1.1 Problems

Year one of field research presented many unexpected problems that were beyond control of the researcher. Some data were lost or were not used due to the introduction of variables not expected to be encountered normally in wetlands. First, the off-site reference wetland near Fort McMurray was tampered with by unknown person(s); all enclosures had been emptied of their tadpoles and piled on shore. This site was completely abandoned just short of one month into the study and no data were obtained. Secondly, water level in some of the experimental trenches on Suncor's lease fluctuated and two were inadvertently, completely drained for approximately 12 hours. Most of the fluctuations in water level were due to seepage out of the trenches as well as high rates of evaporation. This problem was remedied later in the year once a system of tanks and pipes were set up, allowing researchers to add water to individual trenches when needed. At the end of this field season it was necessary to exclude data from the two trenches (both containing process-affected water from Natural Wetland) that had been drained and were subsequently refilled. Due to the loss of two of the three OSPM-affected trenches, as well as my offsite reference, most of the data used for publication will come from the year two part of the study, which was much more successful.

Given the lack of security at off-site wetlands and the poor control of water levels at the experimental trenches, which resulted in poor quality data, changes were made to the experimental design in year two. First, all wetlands in the study were located on secure oil sands lease sites, preventing interference from outside persons. Second, the experimental trenches on the Suncor site were abandoned in favour of traditional wetlands that were either natural or constructed since fluctuations in water levels would be less likely. The second field season was much more successful because of these adjustments. However, the Natural Wetland site had to be excluded from all analyses because water levels in the wetland decreased significantly over the summer, resulting in extremely low water levels in enclosures, which would likely have had concentrated levels of toxic components (Daly, 2007). Also, one enclosure from the Weir 1 site

was lost due to damage in a storm. Nevertheless, sample collection was quite good and resulted in sufficient samples from almost all study sites.

3.3.1.2 Survival

There were differences in survival between reference and OSPM-containing sites in year one (Kruskal-Wallis, p=0.027). The young OSPM site, 4m CT, showed greatly decreased survival (100% mortality within 2 weeks of the beginning of the study) when compared to the reference site and more mature (older) wetland containing OSPM (Natural Wetland) (Figure 3.5).

3.3.1.3 Tadpole Length, Weight, and Average Daily Length and Weight Gain

Tadpoles from wetlands containing OSPM had similar body weights [(ANOVA, p = 0.371) (Figure 3.6)] and body lengths [(ANOVA, p = 0.266) (Figure 3.7)] to tadpoles raised in wetlands containing no OSPM. Daily length gain [(ANOVA, p = 0.432) (Figure 3.8)] and daily weight gain [(ANOVA, p = 0.625) (Figure 3.9)] of tadpoles were also not significantly different between wetlands.

3.3.1.4 Whole-body Triglyceride Concentrations

In the first study year triglyceride concentrations in tadpoles were not determined due to lack of specimens for analysis.



Figure 3.5 Year one mean survival ($\% \pm$ S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland, an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland, and a young OSPM-affected wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference was detected (Kruskal-Wallis, p = 0.027). A tukey post-hoc test determined young OSPM wetlands were different from all others (different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05).



Figure 3.6 Year one mean body weight ($g \pm S.E.$) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.371). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05.



Figure 3.7 Year one mean body length (mm \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.266). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05. Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05. Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05.



Figure 3.8 Year one mean daily length (mm/day \pm S.E.) gain of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.432). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05.



Figure 3.9 Year one mean daily weight gain (g/day \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.625). Different letters above bars indicate a significant difference, p < 0.05.

3.3.2 Year Two (2007)

3.3.2.1 Survival

Survival was much lower in young wetlands containing OSPM than all other classes of wetlands. Old OSPM-containing wetlands showed survival similar to that of both young and old reference wetlands. There was a significant interaction effect between the factors of age and OSPM status. Treatment effects of age and OSPM status were also found to be significant [(two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.004, OSPM p < 0.001) (Figure 3.10)].

3.3.2.2 Tadpole Length, Weight, and Average Daily Length and Weight Gain

Tadpoles that were raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands were heavier than tadpoles raised in the other classes of wetlands. For body weight of tadpoles, there was a significant interaction effect between the wetland's age and OSPM status but not treatment effects of age or OSPM status alone [(two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.016, age p = 0.441, OSPM status p = 0.293) (Figure 3.11)]. For body length, a significant interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not for treatment effects alone [(two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.920, OSPM status p = 0.890) (Figure 3.12)]. Weight gain per day was not different among tadpoles in any wetland type [(two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.226, age p = 0.721, OSPM status p = 0.620) (Figure 3.13)]. For daily length gain, no significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or OSPM status was found, but a significant difference due to age was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.733, age p <0.001, OSPM status p = 0.137) (Figure 3.14)].

3.3.2.3 Whole-body Triglyceride Concentrations

There was a significant difference in triglyceride concentrations of tadpoles raised in different wetland types due to an interaction between the factors of age and OSPM status, but not treatment effects alone [(two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.041, age p = 0.739, OSPM status p = 0.711) (Figure 3.15)]. Tadpoles raised in old reference wetlands had the highest concentrations

of triglycerides followed by young OSPM-containing wetlands. Young reference sites and old OSPM sites were similar to each other and had the lowest concentrations of triglycerides.



Figure 3.10 Year two mean survival ($\% \pm S.E.$) per mesocosm of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to a treatment interaction, as well as age and OSPM status effects alone was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.004, OSPM status p < 0.001).



Figure 3.11 Year two mean body weight ($g \pm S.E.$) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.016, age p = 0.441, OSPM status p = 0.293).



Figure 3.12 Year two mean body length (mm \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not for treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.920, OSPM status p = 0.890).



Figure 3.13 Year two mean weight gain per day (g/day \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.226, age p = 0.721, OSPM status p = 0.620).



Figure 3.14 Year two length gain per day (mm/day \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or OSPM status was found, but a significant difference due to age was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.733, age p < 0.001, OSPM status p = 0.137).



Figure 3.15 Year two mean whole-body triglyceride concentrations (mg/g \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.041, age p = 0.739, OSPM status p = 0.711).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Rana sylvatica Survival

Rana sylvatica tadpoles raised in the 4m CT wetland, which is formed from young OSPM and receives input of fresh tailings water during the spring and summer, showed 100% mortality in the 2006 field season. In comparison, survival was not significantly different among wetlands containing no OSPM (Weir 1) and Natural Wetland, which contained older OSPM. Similarly in 2007, the lowest survival of tadpoles occurred in wetlands that were contained young OSPM. These results support those of Pollet and Bendell-Young (2000), who found tadpoles exposed to OSPM had low survival. The results from both years showed similar survival between old OSPM and young and old reference wetlands, which was much higher than the young OSPM sites in all cases. These results strongly suggest that toxicity from OSPM is diminishing over time. However, it is not known which components of the OSPM are causing the toxic effects. Many previous studies (Holowenko et al., 2001; Rogers et al., 2002; Quagraine et al., 2005) have shown that a large part of the toxicity from OSPM (mainly tailings water) is a result of naphthenic acids (NAs). NAs are a complex mixture of naturally occurring carboxylic acids that are of several different molecular weights, chain lengths, and may have several ring structures. Other possible sources of OSPM toxicity are from high levels of salinity (Renault et al., 1998; Nero et al., 2006), which has been shown to be toxic to amphibians (Rios-Lopez, 2008; Christy and Dickman, 2002). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) may also contribute to more acute toxicity. Studies have shown that natural aging of OSPM-affected wetlands can reduce toxicity (Quagraine et al. 2005, references there in). Research has shown that microbes can degrade PAHs (Madill et al. 2001) and NAs (Herman et al., 1994; Lai et al., 1996), which is thought be an important factor in the reduction of toxicity of OSPM over time (Madill et al. 2001). Toor et al. (2008) have shown that NAs degrade over time, with the majority of the NAs degraded are of lower molecular weight and have the lowest number of rings, which causes a reduction in acute toxicity of tailings water. However, some chronic toxicity remains that is thought to be due to remaining NAs with high molecular weight and more ring structures. The results of this study will be of considerable interest to oil sands companies since young tailings material is toxic to R. sylvatica larvae. This means that amphibians are unlikely to survive in

wetlands constructed from young OSPM, and those wetlands should somehow be made inaccessible to amphibians to avoid potentially severe detrimental effects on populations of native amphibians in the area. On the encouraging side, this work presents solid evidence, through low mortality rates among tadpoles caged both in more mature OSPM and reference wetlands, that amphibian populations may be able to form part of sustainable communities in wetlands containing more mature OSPM.

3.4.2 Tadpole Growth

In both years of this study, measures of growth (length, weight, and their change over time) were analyzed. Tadpole growth is a very important endpoint since it has been shown that survival of juvenile frogs is positively related to size at metamorphosis (Morey and Reznick, 2001). In 2006, growth of tadpoles in only one OSPM site could be compared with that of one reference site due to problems described in section 3.3.1.1., and growth was similar between sites. Any real differences from the 'treatment' effect of different maturity wetlands would have been obscured because of the 100% mortality of tadpoles raised in young OSPM-affected wetlands. Rather than acute and severe toxicity, the expectation was to see decreased growth due to the higher exposure of all tailings related contaminants.

In 2007, body size among tadpoles was higher in those raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands. This was an unexpected result because normally organisms dealing with toxic insult are expected to be smaller, expending more energy towards detoxification efforts, rather than growth (Berven, 1990; Morey and Reznick, 2001). I do not believe this is directly related to exposure to OSPM. Rather, the increased tadpole size is most likely due to lower density of tadpoles as a result of significantly higher mortality of tadpoles in these enclosures. This result is supported by Eaton et al. (2005), who found that increased densities of tadpoles resulted in smaller size at the time of metamorphosis. Many other researchers have also discussed similar correlations (Berven, 1990; Morey and Reznick, 2001). Food limitation is the mechanism that is most often used to explain density dependent effects on growth and survival (Kupferberg, 1997). However, we provided a steady, unlimited, diet of boiled lettuce to the tadpoles. Therefore, food limitation was not likely, but energy expenditure in acquiring food may have been different for

tadpoles in cages with high density versus cages with low tadpole density. Another possible reason for increased size in tadpoles raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands is that these tadpoles were significantly older at the time of metamorphic climax, meaning they had more time to grow. Metamorphosis and related hormonal endpoints will be further discussed in chapter four of this thesis. The observation that tadpoles cannot complete metamorphosis yet continue to grow has been reported several times (Allen, 1929; Shi, 2000). Because of amphibians' abilities to keep growing without completing metamorphosis (Boone, 2005) it was decided to analyze growth rate in terms of weight and length gain per day, which gives a more accurate representation of growth because it takes into consideration the difference in growth periods. Tadpole weight gain per day in 2007 was not different among wetland classes. Length gain per day was different but only due to effects of age of wetland, not OSPM status. This result was not readily explainable, but may be due to the high plasticity of tadpoles causing variation within populations as well as amongst different populations (Morey and Reznick, 2001). The results of daily growth suggest that tadpole growth is not being affected directly by contamination and more likely to be changing due to differing growth periods and/or lower tadpole densities in enclosures from young OSPM-containing wetlands.

3.4.3 Whole Tadpole Triglyceride Concentrations

Tadpole whole-body triglyceride concentrations were only measured in the second year (2007) of this study. Triglycerides are a main form of energy storage in many types of animals, and are a common biomarker used in ecotoxicology studies of many species (Owen et al., 2005), especially in fish (Adams, 1999; Bennett and Janz, 2007). Our goal was to use total body triglyceride concentration as a possible indicator of overall condition and energy storage or consumption due to exposure to OSPM. We found that triglyceride concentrations were different among wetlands; however, concentrations did not show an expected pattern with tadpoles exposed to the wetlands with highest contaminant levels having the lowest triglyceride concentrations higher than all other wetland classes except for old reference sites, which had the highest concentrations. This is best explained by the lower tadpole densities in wetlands that caused the highest mortality, similar to the growth effects, which may have resulted in less energy

expenditure due to less competition with other tadpoles. In young OSPM-containing wetlands tadpole survival was 41.5% lower than in old OSPM-containing wetlands, 62.6% lower than in young reference wetlands, and 54.7% lower than in old reference sites. This means that young OSPM-containing wetlands had 41.5%, 62.6%, and 54.7% lower tadpole densities than old OSPM-affected, young reference, and old reference wetlands, respectively. Another possible explanation for these unexpected results is the delay to metamorphosis in tadpoles raised in young OSPM wetlands, which could have allowed them more time to accumulate more stores of triglycerides. It has been postulated that greater stores of lipids would be advantageous to amphibians under starvations conditions. This could possibly allow for greater survival of amphibians that are larger, which generally have larger lipid stores (Scott et al., 2007).

3.5 Conclusions

Although morphometric endpoints in tadpoles did not show expected differences, less mature (young) OSPM does not look to be a good option for the formation of wetlands. Survival of tadpoles was generally poor in wetlands that were young and contained OSPM. In the longer term this may decrease the chances of sustainable amphibian populations from forming in wetlands constructed on oil sands mine sites. However, if the OSPM wetlands were allowed to mature for a sufficient period of time, which this study suggests is at least seven years, toxicity may decrease to a level comparable with reference wetlands as shown by the survival rates of tadpoles in wetlands formed with more mature OSPM. Wetlands formed from older OSPM may therefore be able to support native amphibian populations. It was beyond the range of this study to determine what caused the reduction in OSPM toxicity over time, but as discussed earlier it is known that some known toxic constituents of OSPM, such as NAs and PAHs, can be degraded by microbes, which would reduce toxicity of OSPM-containing wetlands. For a more complete picture of the ability of wetlands formed with OSPM to support amphibian populations, reproductive assays should be completed in a field type study. As well, juvenile and adult stage frogs should be investigated.

CHAPTER 4: TADPOLE ENDOCRINE FUNCTION, METAMORPHOSIS, AND HEPATIC ENZYME ACTIVITY

4.1 Introduction

In the past few decades, amphibians have been increasingly studied as indicators of environmental degradation and contamination from various sources. Pesticides (Cooke, 1972; Diana et al., 2000; Fort et al., 2004), estrogenic compounds (Hogan et al., 2006), and contaminants from the petrochemical chemical industry (Huang et al., 2007; Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000) have all presented causes for concern for which amphibians have been used as an indicator of toxicity. The oil sands of northern Alberta are another place where amphibians could be useful as an environmental indicator species. Currently, the oil sands industry is rapidly expanding and both solid and liquid tailings materials, called oil sand process-affected materials (OSPM), are accumulating in very large quantities (Madill et al. 2001; Quagraine et al., 2005). Government regulation requires liquid tailings to be stored in large dyked tailings ponds until reclamation can take place (Crowe et al., 2001). The "wet landscape" approach to reclamation of OSPM, which involves creating wetlands from fluid tailings in mined-out pits, is one method for the reclamation of OSPM (Madill et al. 2001). To be viable, wetlands constructed with OSPM must be able to support a functioning ecosystem. However, OSPM has proven toxic to many life forms (Clemente and Fedorak, 2005; Franklin et al., 2002; Leung et al., 2003; Rogers et al., 2002) and it is unknown if formation of functioning ecosystems is possible. Toxicity from OSPM appears to decrease over time (Lai et al., 1996); therefore, older wetlands formed with OSPM are expected to be more ecologically viable.

As an important part of native ecosystem function in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region (Figure 1.1) amphibians must be able to live sustainably in oil sands constructed wetlands if they

are to be considered ecologically viable. Amphibians are sensitive to environmental contamination (Cooke, 1981; Gupta et al., 2007) and have a unique transition between two distinct life stages (metamorphosis) that can be used as an important bioindicator. These factors make them ideal indicator species for use in testing the ecological viability of constructed wetlands. Metamorphosis must be completed if amphibians such as Rana sylvatica are to reproduce successfully. Amphibian metamorphosis has been extensively studied and is hormonally regulated, with thyroid hormone (TH) playing the most important role (Galton, 1992; Shi, 2000; Buchholz et al., 2007; Tata, 2006; Fort et al., 2007). Thyroid hormones are present in two forms, with triiodothyronine (T3) having the greatest biological activity. The other hormone, thyroxine (T4) (Denver, 1998), has to be converted to T3 to function actively (Shi, 2000). Thyroxine produced by the thyroid gland is converted to T3 by deiodinase enzymes in the thyroid and peripheral tissues such as the liver (Denver, 1998; Huang et al., 2001; Cai and Brown, 2004). As a result, both T3 and T4 concentrations need to be measured to understand thyroid status during amphibian development (Fort et al., 2007) and can be used as markers of exposure to contaminants. Contaminant interference with thyroid hormone production or its action on target tissues may have negative effects on metamorphosis, which would preclude establishment of healthy R. sylvatica populations in oil sands constructed wetlands.

In this study, amphibian metamorphosis and thyroid hormone status are used as indicators of the ecological sustainability of wetlands formed with OSPM. 7-ethoxyresorufin-odealkylase (EROD) activity was also measured as a biomarker of exposure to potential toxicants found in wetlands formed with OSPM. The EROD activity is a well established biomarker, since EROD activity increases with increasing contaminant exposure (Whyte et al., 2000). The EROD assay has been previously used in birds and mammals exposed to contaminants from the oil sands region (Gentes, 2006). Sensitivity of amphibians to contaminants, their unique development, and the fact they are indigenous to the oil sands region were my reasons for choosing *R. sylvatica* larvae as a test organism for the investigation of toxicity of wetlands formed with OSPM.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Experimental Design

See section 3.2.1

4.2.2 Time To Metamorphosis

Time to metamorphosis was defined as the number of days it took tadpoles to reach metamorphic climax [gosner stage 42 (Gosner, 1960)], with day zero being the day early premetamorphic tadpoles were placed in the enclosures. The study was started on May 9, 2006 and May 11, 2007.

4.2.3 Thyroid Hormones

4.2.3.1 Whole-Body Thyroid Hormone Extraction

See section 3.2.6 for details, since triglyceride and thyroid hormone extractions follow the same technique, initially.

4.2.3.2 Thyroid Hormone Quantification

Thyroid hormones were quantified in an extract that was produced from single whole tadpoles. Commercially available competitive enzyme immunoassay kits were used for quantifying the hormones. Individual kits specific for Triiodothyronine (T3) and Thyroxine (T4) were used. In year one, kits were obtained from MP Biomedicals, Orangeburg, NY, USA (T3 – 07BC-1005 and T4 07BC-1007). In year two, to be consistent with another researcher conducting parallel research, very similar kits were acquired from BioQuant Inc., San Diego, CA, USA (T3 – BQ043T and T4 -BQ044T).

4.2.4 Liver Somatic Index (LSI)

The wet weights of tadpole livers were measured at the time of necropsy. The liver somatic index (LSI) of each tadpole was then calculated by the following formula:

$$LSI = Liver weight / (Body weight - Liver weight)$$
(4.1)

The LSI gives a measure of each frog's liver size in relation to its body weight.

4.2.5 Hepatic Detoxification Enzyme Activity

4.2.5.1 Liver Microsome Production

Microsome production in this study used an adaptation of the methods described in Papp et al. (2005). Tadpole livers were removed and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen within five minutes of euthanasia, by placing tadpoles in a 500 mg/L solution of MS222 (ethyl-*m*-aminobenzoate methanesulfonate salt, MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH, USA) dissolved in water. The livers of five wood frog larvae from each enclosure were pooled and homogenized. If five livers were not available due to poor survival, as few as three livers were pooled. If fewer than five livers were used, this was adjusted in calculating the final the amount of resorufin formed per mg of protein per minute. All chemicals for preparation of buffers were acquired from Sigma Aldrich, (Oakville, ON, Canada). During the entire process, tools, buffers, and samples were kept cool by working on crushed ice.

While still frozen, pooled livers forming each sample were removed from cryovials and placed in 2ml glass homogenization tubes (Wheaton Science Products, Millville, NJ, USA). One milliliter of HEPES (4-2-hydroxyethyl) -1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) homogenization buffer (0.02 M HEPES: 0.15 M KCL; pH 7.5) was then pipetted into the glass tube and the sample homogenized by 20 - 30 up and down strokes of a hand homogenizer. The resulting homogenate was poured into a 36ml centrifuge tube (VWR International, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and the glass homogenization tube was then rinsed with homogenization buffer until all particles were removed. The rinsate was also added to the centrifuge tube and the final volume was made to 35 ml with homogenization buffer. Six samples were then centrifuged (Sorvall WX90, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) for 20 minutes at 10 000 g at a temperature of 4 °C. The centrifuge rotor was pre-cooled in a refrigerator prior to use. After centrifugation, the supernatant was carefully poured into a clean centrifuge tube, preventing the transfer of fat, which formed a layer on the surface. Fat was removed before pouring by quickly inserting and removing a plastic micropipette tip, to which the fat adhered. The volume in the new tubes was again made to 35 ml with homogenization buffer. These samples were centrifuged for one hour at 100 000 g at 4 °C. After this final centrifugation, supernatants were carefully poured off and the inside of the tubes

were dried using tissue paper, being careful not to touch the pellet at the bottom. The resulting microsome pellets were then resuspended in 600 μ l of buffer [0.05 M tris (2-amino-2-hydroxymethyl-1, 3-propanediol); 1mM EDTA (ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid); 20% v/v glycerol)] and stored as 300 μ l aliquots in cryovials at - 80°C until further analysis.

4.2.5.2 Ethoxyresorufin -o-Deethylase Activity (EROD)

The EROD activity was measured using an adaptation of the method published by Papp et al. (2005) and Gentes et al. (2006). Enzyme activity was quantified by measuring the production of the fluorescent compound, resorufin (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada). Since EROD was the only enzyme being measured, the only required substrate was 7-ethoxy resorufin (7-ER) (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada), which was prepared in methanol at a concentration of 207 mM and stored at -20 °C. At the time of the reaction the 207 mM 7-ER was diluted to 11.7 mM with phosphate buffer (sodium phosphate 0.05 M, pH 8.0). The reaction was carried out in a 96-well, flat bottom, microtitre plate. All samples were run in triplicate, except in cases of insufficient sample when duplicates were run, with a specific blank used for all cases. The specific blank contained all reagents except for microsomes and was used to separate fluorescence produced by resorufin from that of other reagents. The final volume in each well was 180 µl, which consisted of the following (added in the order mentioned): for sample wells -40 µl phosphate buffer, 80 µl microsomes (see section 4.2.2.2), and 30 µl 7-ER working solution. This mixture was then incubated for ten minutes at room temperature. After incubation, 30 µl of NADPH (2 mg/ml in phosphate buffer) was added to start the enzymatic reaction. The reaction was run for 40 minutes then stopped by adding 60 µl of acetonitrile, which contained 600 µg/ml fluorescamine used for protein quantification. The fluorescence of the resorufin product was then measured by excitation at 530 nm and emission at 590 nm using a microplate fluorometer (Dynex Technologies, Chantilly, VA, USA).

Resorufin formation was quantified by subtracting the specific blank's fluorescence from the mean of the triplicate sample. This value was then compared to a standard curve generated from stock resorufin salt (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) solution. The EROD enzyme activity was reported as the amount of resorufin formed per milligram of protein per minute.

4.2.5.4 Total Protein Quantification

Protein content of each sample was quantified using a fluorescamine method adapted from Kennedy and Jones (1994) and Olsgard (2007). In this method, total protein in each sample is determined at the same time in the same well as production of resorufin by the enzyme ethoxy resorufin-O-deethylase (CYP450-1A). A bovine serum albumin (BSA) standard curve was developed to quantify the concentration of protein in each sample well. This assay was carried out in a black, flat bottomed, 96-well microplates that was read using a microtitre plate fluorometer (Dynex Technologies, Chantilly, VA, USA).

To stop the enzyme reaction by precipitating the enzymes, 60 μ l of a 0.6 mg/ml solution of fluorescamine in acetonitrile was added to each well. The addition of the fluorescamine (Sigma Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada) allowed for the measurement of total protein simultaneously with the enzyme activity. Immediately after stopping the enzyme reaction and measuring the EROD activity (see section 4.2.2.3), fluorescence of each sample was read at 390 nm excitation and 460 nm emission on the previously mentioned microplate fluorometer. The reading of fluorescence was then compared with the BSA standard curve generated earlier and presented as total amount of protein per ml of microsomes.

4.2.6 Statistics

In year two (2007), each wetland was not compared to each of the other wetlands separately. Based on the knowledge that as OSPM-containing wetlands get older there is a reduction in toxicity, due to bioremediation, I grouped wetlands according to their age (either young or old) and OSPM status (OSPM or no OSPM). I assume that wetlands of the same group (young OSPM-containing, old OSPM-containing, young reference, old reference) have similar characteristics, such as concentration of NAs. This method of grouping allowed me to complete the two-way ANOVA described below to test the hypothesis that there will be an interaction between age and OSPM status of wetlands. We predict that older OSPM-containing wetlands will be similar to reference wetlands and much less toxic than young OSPM-containing wetlands.

Statistics were carried out using SPSS statistical software package (Version 16.0.1, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Differences were considered to be significant when $p \le 0.05$. All data were tested for normality and equality of variances assumptions using the Shapiro-Wilks test and Levene's test, respectively. In year one, the experimental design was planned for a two-way ANOVA. However, due to loss of a reference site, a one-way ANOVA was completed to determine if there were differences in tadpole time to metamorphosis, thyroid hormone status, liver weight and LSI, and EROD activity, among the three remaining experimental sites. If assumptions of normality or homogeneity of variances were violated, data presented as percentages were arcsin square root transformed, and regular, numeric data were log₁₀ transformed. If assumptions were met after transformation, an ANOVA was performed on the transformed data. If assumptions could not be met the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was performed. In year two, if assumptions were met, a two-way ANOVA was completed on the same variables as in year one. Age of wetlands (young or old) and OSPM status (OSPM or no OSPM) of the wetlands were the two factors in the two-way ANOVA. If assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances were violated the same method for transforming data as in year one was taken. After transformation, if assumptions were met a two-way ANOVA was performed. If assumptions were not met, the Scheirer-Ray-Hare extension of the Kruskal-Wallis [a non-parametric variation of a two-way ANOVA test (Sokal and Rohlf, 2003)], was performed as is in Rickwood et al. (2008).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Year One (2006)

4.3.1.1 Time to Metamorphosis

Tadpoles raised in a young OSPM-containing site were not included in this analysis because they all died early in the study. Data from two of three trenches (six of nine enclosures) were not included in the analysis because water levels were reduced, which can cause metamorphosis to occur earlier than it would normally (Shi, 2000). This effect was observed in the two trenches with reduced water levels, with metamorphosis of tadpoles being completed at a much smaller than normal size soon after reduction of water levels. The tadpoles in remaining
trenches that were included in the analysis showed no difference in time to metamorphosis in year one (ANOVA, p = 0.275); (Figure 4.1).

4.3.1.2 Whole-body Thyroid Hormone Concentration

Only triiodothyronine (T3) was quantified in the entire bodies of tadpoles because sample size was insufficient. Whole-body T3 concentrations in *R. sylvatica* tadpole raised in the OSPM-containing wetland were not significantly different from those raised in the reference wetland (ANOVA, p = 0.310); (Figure 4.2).

4.3.1.3 Resorufin Production

The production of resorufin (EROD assay) was not complete due to lack of liver tissue.

4.3.2 Year Two (2007)

4.3.2.1 Time to Metamorphosis

Tadpoles raised in young OSPM-containing sites took a significantly longer time to complete metamorphosis than tadpoles in any of the other classes of wetlands. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects, as well as the treatment effect of age alone was detected, but not due to OSPM status alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p < 0.001, OSPM status p = 0.566); (Figure 4.3).

4.3.2.2 Whole-body Thyroid Hormone Concentration

Similar to year one, whole-body T3 concentrations in tadpoles did not differ among wetlands. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.571, age p = 0.133, OSPM status p = 0.474); (Figure 4.4). However, in year two, tadpole whole-body concentrations of T4 did differ among wetlands. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.011, age p = 0.782, OSPM status p = 0.281); (Figure 4.5). Tadpoles raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands had the highest concentration of T4. The lowest concentration of T4 was found in tadpoles raised in young reference sites. Also for thyroid hormone ratio (T3:T4), a significant



Figure 4.1 Year one mean time until metamorphosis (d \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM)-containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.275).



Figure 4.2 Year one mean whole-body triiodothyronine (T3) concentration (ng/g \pm S.E.) of *Rana* sylvatica tadpoles raised in a reference wetland and an old oil sands process-affected material (OSPM)-containing wetland. The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant differences were detected (ANOVA, p = 0.310).

difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.006, age p = 0.314, OSPM status p = 0.064); (Figure 4.6).

4.3.2.3 Liver Weight and Liver Somatic Index (LSI)

As in year one, there was no difference in the weight of the livers of tadpoles that were raised in different classes of wetlands. No significant differences due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone were detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.794, age p = 0.592, OSPM status p = 0.233); (Figure 4.7). For LSI, a significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects, as well as the treatment effect of OSPM status alone, was detected, but not due to age alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.448, OSPM status p < 0.001); (Figure 4.8).

4.3.2.4 Resorufin Production (EROD activity)

The production of resorufin, and therefore EROD activity, was much higher in young OSPM-containing wetlands when compared to all other classes of wetlands. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.002, age p = 0.126, OSPM status p = 0.437); (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.3 Year two mean time to metamorphosis (d \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects, as well as the treatment effect of age alone was detected, but not due to OSPM status alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p < 0.001, OSPM status p = 0.566).



Figure 4.4 Year two mean whole-body triiodothyronine (T3) (ng/g \pm S.E.) concentration of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone was detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.571, age p = 0.133, OSPM status p = 0.474).



Figure 4.5 Year two mean whole-body thyroxine (T4) concentration (ug/dL \pm S.E.) of *Rana* sylvatica tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.011, age p = 0.782, OSPM status p = 0.281).



Figure 4.6 Year two mean thyroid hormone ratio (T3/T4 \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.006, age p = 0.314, OSPM status p = 0.064).



Figure 4.7 Year two mean liver weight ($g \pm S.E.$) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. No significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects or treatment effects alone were detected (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.794, age p = 0.592, OSPM status p = 0.233).



Figure 4.8 Year two mean liver somatic index (LSI) (LSI \pm S.E.) of *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects, as well as the treatment effect of OSPM status alone was detected, but not due to age alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p < 0.001, age p = 0.448, OSPM status p < 0.001).



Figure 4.9 Year two mean ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylase (EROD) activity (pmol/min/mg \pm S.E) in *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles raised in different wetlands grouped by the factors of age (young or old) and oil sand process-affected material (OSPM) status (OSPM containing or reference). The number of enclosures per type of wetland is shown in parentheses (n), differences were considered significant when p < 0.05. A significant difference due to an interaction between treatment effects was detected, but not treatment effects alone (two-way ANOVA, interaction p = 0.002, age p = 0.126, OSPM status p = 0.437).

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Time to Metamorphosis

In year two the results of this study were similar to those of Pollet and Bendell-Young (2000). Tadpoles (*Bufo boreas* in the case of Pollet and Bendell-Young) raised in reference wetlands completed metamorphosis faster than those raised in wetlands containing by OSPM. However, the present study classified wetlands by age (young or old) and OSPM status (OSPM-containing or reference). Only tadpoles raised in young, assumed to be more toxic, OSPM-containing wetlands showed a delay in metamorphosis. This is consistent with the idea that as OSPM-affected wetlands age, toxicity of the wetland is reduced due to natural biochemical processes such as biodegradation (Lai et al., 1996) and photolysis of contaminants such as naphthenic acids and PAHs. This delay indicates that increased exposure to contaminants in young OSPM-containing wetlands causes a physiological stress in tadpoles that delays metamorphosis. Due to the complex mixture of contaminants it is not possible to identify any specific contaminant as the cause of the delayed metamorphosis.

Late metamorphosis negatively affects amphibians. Tadpoles completing metamorphosis later have decreased survival when they reach the young adult stage (Berven, 1990; Morey and Reznick, 2001). As well, tadpoles that complete metamorphosis earlier have the advantage of being larger once they reached the juvenile frog stage and are able to reproduce earlier (Berven, 1990; Pollet and Bendell-Young, 2000).

For amphibians such as *R. sylvatica* to be part of a functioning ecosystem, they must reproduce successfully, which entails completion of metamorphosis and survival until adulthood. This is compromised in *R. sylvatica* from young OSPM-containing wetlands, which ultimately would lead to poor establishment of local amphibian populations.

4.4.2 Thyroid Hormone Status

Thyroid hormones (THs) have many functions in many different species such as regulation of growth, development, and metabolism (Brent, 1994). Thyroid hormones are also

the main governing factor in amphibian metamorphosis (Shi, 2000; Fort et al., 2007). These compounds have complex functions and affect multiple events during metamorphosis such as tail resorption and forelimb development. Without THs, metamorphosis can become arrested. Interestingly, this arrested metamorphosis can be completed if THs are provided at a later time (Rot-Nikcevic and Wassersug, 2004). The current study found no differences in T3 concentrations. T4 concentrations were different among young OSPM wetlands, which had higher concentrations than young reference wetlands. Overall this difference was very small and difficult to explain. However, the ratio of T3:T4, which gives a measure of the rate of deiodination of T4 to T3 (Picard-Aitken et al., 2007), was the lowest in tadpoles raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands. These alterations in thyroid status of *R. sylvatica* I believe to be responsible for the delayed/arrested metamorphosis in tadpoles living in young OSPM-containing wetlands, because of the strong link between THs and metamorphosis I have discussed. As well, alterations in thyroid status may also have other, unmeasured effects on amphibian metabolism, since THs control basal metabolic rate along with other metabolic processes.

4.4.3 Hepatic Detoxification Enzyme [7-ethoxyresorufin dealkylase (EROD)] Activity

The activity of EROD is a commonly used biomarker of exposure to a variety of industrial contaminants (Havelkova et al., 2007). The activity of the cytochrome P450 1A (CYP 450) enzyme family is linked to the enzyme 7-ethoxyresorufin-o-dealkylase (EROD). Exposure of test organisms to contaminants often results in an increased EROD enzyme activity. Rogers (2003) showed that naphthenic acids, which are considered to be one of the major toxic components of OSPM, may induce the EROD enzyme. Also, OSPM has been shown to contain PAHs (Madill et al. 2001) that are known to induce CYP 450 enzymes and EROD activity (van der Oost et al., 2003). Therefore, a difference in EROD activity of tadpoles among wetlands may indicate increased exposure of our test organisms to contaminants, which would affect their physiology and ultimately their ability to function in a particular wetland.

This study found the highest EROD activity in tadpoles caged in young OSPMcontaining wetlands. This activity was significantly higher than old OSPM-containing sites as well as young reference sites. These results are consistent with higher levels of contaminants in the young OSPM wetlands. These findings also agree with water chemistry data of current naphthenic acid concentrations (Appendix 2) plus those previously reported, as well as higher PAH concentrations (Clemente and Fedorak, 2005; Gentes, 2006; Madill et al. 2001). These results are similar to those of Gauthier et al. (2004), who found that amphibians exposed to contaminated water exhibited increased EROD activity when compared to control sites. Our overall EROD activity results were lower than those found by Gauthier [11.7 pmol/min/mg protein (control) versus 77.5 pmol/min/mg protein (exposure)]. This may be due to the difference in species and their size but it may also be a result of sample storage. There are conflicting reports noted in a review published by Whyte et al. (2000) that state that sample EROD activity can be stable for up to 24 months, while others have stated that even at -80 °C for a period of approximately 4 months.

When tadpoles caged in OSPM-containing wetlands were compared to those in old reference sites their EROD activity was higher, but it was not statistically different. This result may be explained by the variation caused by exposure to different environmental factors or differences in physiological factors among tadpoles (Goksoyr and Forlin, 1992; Havelkova et al., 2007) and not an increased amount of contaminants in the reference wetland. Another possible explanation may be that PAHs, which are known EROD inducers, occur naturally in the soil throughout the oil sand region (FTFC, 1995). This could have exposed tadpoles in all wetlands to PAHs of varying concentrations.

4.5 Conclusions

During the 2007 field study, metamorphosis was severely delayed, thyroid status was altered, and EROD enzymes were induced in tadpoles raised in young constructed wetlands formed with OSPM. Tadpoles caged in older OSPM-containing wetlands were similar to both young and old reference wetlands in terms of time to completion of metamorphosis, thyroid status, and EROD activity. These findings were in agreement with the findings of chapter 3, which found decreased survival in young OSPM-containing wetlands but not in old OSPM-

affected wetlands. These results suggest that as wetlands age they become less toxic, most likely due to a reduction in contaminant levels. This study shows that metamorphosis of tadpoles is delayed or completely arrested with exposure to OSPM contaminants. This experiment also indicates the wet landscape approach to reclamation has the potential to support populations of native amphibians, but only if the wetlands are sufficiently aged (7 years or more).

CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION

Currently, there are three oil sands companies producing bitumen by surface mining methods from deposits near Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada. The number of companies involved in the mining of oil sands is increasing rapidly and so is the output of oil. This increase in the oil production also increases the amount of problematic by-products, including tailings materials. A major concern with the large amount of tailings is their toxicity. Adverse biological effects of solid and liquid tailings are believed to be associated with increased pH, increased salinity, PAHs from unrecovered bitumen, and naphthenic acids. Naphthenic acids are considered to be the greatest source of toxicity to wildlife. A proposed method for reclamation of liquid oil sands tailings material is the wet landscape approach in which 20 to 40% of the final reclamation area will be comprised of wetlands. These may include small, shallow wetlands and large lakes formed in mined-out pits. Before such a method can be implemented, researchers are trying to determine whether or not wetlands created with oil sands process-affected material (OSPM) can, with time, support a viable ecosystem. During early research into the use of OSPM in wetland construction, a number of wetlands were built to serve as real-world working models for use in experiments. This study examined the ability of these created wetlands to support a viable native ecosystem by using *Rana sylvatica* larvae as species that is representative of other aquatic life and will show biological responses to toxicants (bioindicator).

Bioindicators have been used extensively in studies on oil sands impact and reclamation research. To date, organisms from different trophic levels have been investigated, notably plants (Crowe et al., 2001), phytoplankton (Leung et al., 2003), birds (Gentes et al., 2007; Gurney et al., 2005), and fish (Nero et al., 2006). Amphibians, which represent a native, upper trophic level, aquatic and terrestrial vertebrate, are expected to inhabit reclaimed oil sands mining and tailings storage areas after reclamation. Amphibians are a unique and valuable study organism because

they live a fully aquatic existence during their larval stage, but live a mostly terrestrial life as adults. The larval stage was chosen for this study due to its suitability for representing aquatic life (Cooke, 1981). The main goal of the third chapter of this thesis was to investigate if amphibians that are native to the oil sands region could survive and grow in wetlands formed with OSPM. The fourth chapter investigated the metamorphosis and thyroid hormone status of *Rana sylvatica* larvae (Degitz et al., 2005; Opitz et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2006; Shi, 2000). The relationship between metamorphosis and thyroid hormone status has been previously used as an indicator of exposure to environmental toxicants (Fort et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2006). Due to the well-studied process of metamorphosis and its dependence on thyroid hormone, this work, along with several others, have examined metamorphosis in amphibians for detection of endocrine and thyroid disrupting compounds (Degitz et al., 2005; Opitz et al., 2005; OECD, 2008). As well, the hepatic detoxification enzyme (CYP450 1A) activity in *Rana sylvatica* was measured as a biomarker of exposure to contaminants.

The first field season (2006) had several problems that interfered with obtaining sufficient samples for all intended measurements, assays, and statistical analyses. Only three of nine enclosures in the older OSPM-containing wetland group yielded useful samples. As well, the only data obtained from enclosures in the young OSPM-containing wetland was survival. These problems combined with the death of all tadpoles in the young OSPM-containing site reduced the number of tadpoles available for measurements and additional analysis. In spite of the limited numbers of animals available for the laboratory assays, survival data did show interesting results that supported the hypothesis of this study that the youngest OSPM-containing wetlands, which have the highest levels of toxic components, would show the highest mortality and other detrimental effects when compared to older OSPM-containing wetlands. The highest mortality was among tadpoles raised in the young OSPM-containing wetland (4m CT). In 2006, 100% of the tadpoles in this wetland died within two weeks of the start of the study. This was presumably due to high concentrations of PAHs, naphthenic acids, high salinity, or a combination of possible contaminants (Table 3.3). There was no difference in survival between the other two wetlands (one old OSPM site and one reference). This also supported the hypothesis that as wetlands containing OSPM age, they become less toxic. Similar results were obtained in 2007. The highest mortality occurred in all of the youngest OSPM-containing sites.

In 2007, the wetlands were grouped by their age and OSPM status. 4m CT again showed very high mortality but it was not 100%. It should be noted that in young OSPM-containing wetlands tadpoles either died quite quickly or survived and grew very large, as this was an unexpected result. The tadpoles that did survive seemed less susceptible or better able to deal with contaminants. Overall, these data imply that young OSPM-containing wetlands are not ideal and cannot be considered adequately reclaimed until higher viability of tadpoles can be assured, especially since this species is a logical and relevant sentinel of ecological sustainability. On the other hand, the 2007 data suggest that if OSPM-containing wetlands are allowed to age (> 7 years) the mortality rates of *R. sylvatica* are similar to those in reference wetlands. The findings of this study support those of Gentes (2006), who found that it may take 10 years for wetlands formed with OSPM to become suitable for bird populations.

In 2007, surviving tadpoles in some of the young OSPM sites were significantly larger than those in all other wetlands in 2007. This is not likely directly linked to exposure to OSPM, but rather is a result of lengthened growth period caused either by a longer time to metamorphosis, or reduced competition from very low animal densities within enclosures caused by the high mortality in young OSPM-containing wetlands. Since food was provided in each of the enclosures it is unlikely that food quality or composition caused size related differences. It has been shown on many occasions that tadpoles can keep growing even if they do not complete metamorphosis (Allen, 1929). Lengthened growth period is a possible cause of increased tadpole size in young OSPM wetlands since more time and energy could be allocated to growth, rather than to metamorphosis. A second possible cause is less social competition and crowding in enclosures in young OSPM-containing wetlands, since the high mortality rate left fewer tadpoles in these enclosures. Tadpole size has been correlated with tadpole density in wetlands (Berven, 1990; Eaton et al., 2005).

Metamorphosis is a period of rapid development and change in all amphibian tissues (Degitz et al., 2005). The time it takes amphibians to complete metamorphosis is a commonly used endpoint in amphibian ecotoxicology because it is a readily visible change that is altered by exposure to chemicals and other disturbances in habitat. Decreasing or lengthening the time to metamorphosis can adversely affect tadpole and juvenile frog survival (Berven, 1990). The problems of low water levels and evaporation in some wetlands during the first season of this

study caused apparent premature metamorphosis at a very small body size in the old OSPM and reference wetlands. Tadpoles in OSPM-containing wetlands were not included in the analysis due to 100% mortality before metamorphosis was complete. In the remaining wetlands no differences in time to metamorphosis were noted. In contrast, during year two of this study there was a significant increase in the time to metamorphosis in all exposure groups. Tadpoles caged in young OSPM wetlands experienced a lengthened or complete arresting of metamorphosis. Metamorphosis of tadpoles in old OSPM wetlands, and both young and old reference wetlands, was completed much sooner (> 20 days) than those of young OSPM-containing wetlands. These data provide more evidence that young OSPM wetlands are toxic to amphibians but this toxicity appears to decrease as the OSPM wetlands age.

In larval amphibians, such as Rana sylvatica tadpoles, thyroid hormones (THs) control metamorphosis (Shi, 2000; Fort et al., 2007; Tata, 2006). The thyroid hormone system has also been shown to be a possible target for certain pollutants, which could alter thyroid hormone function and thus metamorphosis (Brown et al., 2004; Degitz et al., 2005; Helbing et al., 2006; Opitz et al., 2005). Therefore, THs in developing amphibians is a logical endpoint to measure. Although significant differences in metamorphosis were found between treatment types, there were no differences in triiodothyronine (T3) in either year. In year 2 there was a difference in T4 concentrations, but only between tadpoles in young OSPM and young reference wetlands. This result is not readily explainable and is not consistent with the delayed metamorphosis in tadpoles from young OSPM wetlands. A difference in the ratio of T3: T4 was noted between tadpoles from young OSPM and young reference wetlands and may signify a change in the deiodination of T4 to T3 (Picard-Aitken et al., 2007). This combined with the fact that the slowest metamorphosis was found in the same wetland groups suggests that the delays noted in time to metamorphosis are caused by interference with THs. These results suggest that thyroid hormones in wood frogs need further study to shed light on possible mechanisms triggering alterations in timing to metamorphosis. A detailed evaluation of the thyroid system including the thyroid glands and deiodinase enzymes that produce the T3, the biologically active form of the hormone, plus thyroid hormone receptors should also be studied to give a more complete picture of the mechanisms involved in the endocrine disruption that was evident in exposed animals (Fort, 2007).

Lipids such as triglycerides are the main form of energy storage in many species and have been extensively measured in fish (Adams, 1999) and mammals. Environmental stresses, such as exposure to contaminants, have been shown to alter stores of lipids in fish (Adams, 1999) Studies have shown that amphibians and fish with lower energy stores have a poorer chance at survival and successful overwintering (Biro et al., 2004; Scott et al., 2007). This study found that tadpoles from old reference wetlands, the ideal reference sites, had the greatest stores of triglycerides followed by young OSPM wetlands, the most challenging sites regarding toxic challenge. Curiously, the lowest stores were found in young reference sites and old OSPM sites. The low energy stores in tadpoles on these latter sites may be explained by the quicker metamorphosis, which likely means energy is being used for metamorphosis and not available for storage. Metamorphosis could also lead to altered energy stores because it is a time of high energy demand and tadpoles do not eat during this transition period (Scott et al., 2007). Another explanation could be that the high densities of tadpoles in the young reference site and old OSPM site were the cause of lower lipid stores. However, the low survival of tadpoles in young OSPM wetlands probably overwhelmed more subtle effects caused by exposure to contaminants and the surviving tadpoles would be those least sensitive to toxicants. As well, the delayed metamorphosis and continuous feeding of tadpoles in young OSPM wetlands would have allowed more time for accumulation of energy stores. Previous studies have stated that exposure of fish to contaminants such as metals (Levesque et al., 2002) could deplete energy stores. A reduction in triglycerides was also seen in crabs as a result of exposure to elevated ammonia levels (Hong et al., 2007), so it may be inferred that OSPM may cause alterations in energy stores however, the data from this study did not support this. Differences in triglyceride concentrations seemed not to be caused by tadpoles spending more energy detoxifying contaminants, which is known to happen; but instead energy stores seem to be altered by indirect effects such as low densities (high mortality) or lengthened time to metamorphosis caused by exposure to OSPM. If energy stores in *R. sylvatica* were lowered due to exposure to OSPM, they may have compromised fitness and survival. This study could not conclude this because, like other assays, effects may have been masked due to very low survival in the young OSPMcontaining wetlands.

The activity of the enzyme 7-ethoxyresorufin dealkylase has been used extensively as a biomarker of exposure to environmental pollutants including oil sands related contaminants. Previous research in birds (Gentes, 2006; Smits et al., 2000) and in mammals (Rogers, 2003) has shown that exposure to tailings and naphthenic acids can stimulate EROD activity. This study found that EROD activity was highest in young OSPM wetlands as predicted. This shows that amphibians exposed to young OSPM wetlands, which have higher levels of naphthenic acids and PAHs, have to expend more resources detoxifying contaminants than amphibians raised in older, presumably 'cleaner' reclaimed wetlands. This leaves fewer metabolic resources for growth, development, energy storage, and other bodily functions. On another note, other studies such as those quoted in Rogers (2003) have reported very large increases in EROD activity with exposure to some known EROD inducers. This could mean that toxicants found in OSPM are not great inducers of EROD activity, which could be an explanation for the low EROD activities. More likely, any larger induction of EROD by exposure to OSPM were masked by the large scale mortality of tadpoles in young OSPM wetlands, which we hypothesized, would cause the most EROD induction because they contain the highest level of potential EROD inducing contaminants. Another possible reason for not seeing larger differences in EROD activity among tadpoles in young OSPM wetlands and other wetlands is the fact that bitumen is found naturally in soils throughout the oil sands region. Bitumen would be a source of EROD inducing PAHs that would likely be present at all sites. More investigation into the effects of OSPM and known toxic components such as naphthenic acids on EROD induction should be conducted as it may prove to be a useful biomarker in oil sands research.

CONCLUSIONS

Over the duration of this study many biological endpoints related to growth, development, and future fitness of population stability were used as tools to asses the health of amphibians, which are expected to inhabit reclaimed oil sands mining areas. Comparisons were made between reference wetlands and OSPM-containing wetlands of different ages (4 total classes). This research has shown that young OSPM-containing wetlands will not support sustainable amphibian life due to acute toxicity to tadpoles, while old OSPM-containing wetlands can support amphibian survival similar to reference wetlands. Tadpoles raised in young OSPM-containing wetlands had delayed metamorphosis, increased liver EROD activity, and

altered thyroid status (lower T3:T4 ratio). The larger growth in tadpoles from young OSPMcontaining wetlands and triglyceride differences were likely due to differences in tadpole density due to lower survival caused by contaminant exposure in young OSPM-containing wetlands. From this research it is concluded that the use of the wet landscape approach to reclamation will be able to support populations of indigenous amphibians such as *Rana sylvatica*, but only after wetlands have matured, so biotic and abiotic processes can reduce the compounds responsible for acute toxicity. This study confirms that toxicity of OSPM is decreasing over time. However, more work needs to be completed to further the knowledge of how well amphibians will perform in wetlands formed with old OSPM, as well as more investigation into how reclaimed wetlands will perform ecologically. If implementation of this reclamation method does occur on a large scale, an ecological monitoring program should be established for amphibians because amphibians are integral to a functioning ecosystem in both aquatic and terrestrial environments. They could also continue to serve as an important monitoring tool for ongoing reclamation efforts.

Currently, the only toxicological studies on amphibians are based on larval amphibians up to the completion of metamorphosis. Further in-situ studies on amphibians must be completed to gain a better understanding of how different life stages of amphibians such as *Rana sylvatica* will perform in reclaimed areas on the oil sands. Included should be health and reproductive studies on adult amphibians and the hatchability of their eggs. Clearly these two phases are critical to population stability (Berven, 1990). Harris et al. (2000) have shown that amphibians at various stages of development are differentially sensitive to toxicants. Also, more species of amphibians must be investigated since the previous study by Pollet and Bendell-Young (2000) has shown differences in biological response of different amphibian species (*R. sylvatica* and *B. boreas*) to OSPM. Similarly, other researchers have noted strong species differences among amphibians exposed to contaminants in the environment. Harris et al. (2000) noted differences in the sensitivities of the frog *R. pipiens* and *B. americanus* to pesticides, while Snodgrass et al. (2004) found that *R. clamitans* showed more toxic responses to coal combustion wastes than *R. sylvatica*. Although it cannot completely replace a well-controlled laboratory experiment for reducing external variation or a field study for dealing with the most realistic environmental variables (Harris et al., 2001), this study is another example of how caging tadpoles can be a useful technique for studying environmental contamination.

REFERENCES

- Adams, S.M. (1999). Ecological role of lipids in the health and success of fish populations. In *Lipids in Freshwater Ecosystems*, Arts, M.T. and B.C. Wainman (eds.). Springer, New York, NY *in* Bennett, P.M. (2006). Effects of uranium mining and milling effluents on juvenile fish bioenergetics, growth, and overwinter survival. MSc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- (AEUB) Alberta Energy and Utility Board. (2006). Alberta's energy reserves 2005 and supply/demand outlook 2006-2015.
- Allen, B. M. (1929). The influence of the thyroid gland and hypophysis upon growth and development of amphibian larvae. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 4(3), 325-333.
- Bendell-Young, L. I, Bennett, K. E., Crowe, A., Kennedy, C. J., Kermode, A. R., Moore, M. M., Plant, A. L., Wood, A. (2000). Ecological characteristics of wetlands receiving an industrial effluent. *Ecological Applications*, 10(1), 310-322.
- Bennett, P.J., Janz, D. M., (2007). Bioenergetics and growth of young-of the-year northern pike (*Esox lucius*) and burbot (*Lota lota*) exposed to metal mining effluent. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 68(1), 1-12.
- Berven, K. A. (1990). Factors affecting population fluctuations in larval and adult stages of the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*). *Ecology*, 71(4), 1599-1608.
- Biro, P. A, Morton, A. E., Post, J. R., Parkinson, E. A. (2004). Over-winter lipid depletion and mortality of age-0 rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *61*(8), 1513-1519.
- Boone, M. D. (2005). Juvenile frogs compensate for small metamorphic size with terrestrial growth: Overcoming the effects of larval density and insecticide exposure. *Journal of Herpetology*, *39*(3), 416-423.
- Brasfield, S.M., Bradham, K., Wells, J.B., Talent, L.G., Lanno, R.P., Janz, D.M., (2004). Development of a terrestrial vertebrate model for assessing bioavailability of cadmium in the fence lizard (*Sceloporus undulatus*) and in ovo effects on hatchling size and thyroid function. *Chemosphere* 54, 1643–1651.
- Brent, G. A. (1994). The molecular basis of thyroid hormone action. *The New England Journal* of Medicine, 331(13), 847-853.
- Brown, S. B., Adams, B. A., Cyr, D. G., Eales, J. G. (2004). Contaminant effects on the teleost fish thyroid. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(7), 1680-1701.
- Brown, D. D., Cai, L. (2007). Amphibian metamorphosis. *Developmental Biology*, 306(1), 20-33.

- Buchholz, D. R., Heimeier, R. A., Das, B., Washington, T., Shi, Y. (2007). Pairing morphology with gene expression in thyroid hormone-induced intestinal remodeling and identification of a core set of TH-induced genes across tadpole tissues. *Developmental Biology*, 303(2), 576-590.
- Cai, L., Brown, D. D. (2004). Expression of type II iodothyronine deiodinase marks the time that a tissue responds to thyroid hormone-induced metamorphosis in *Xenopus laevis*. *Developmental Biology*, 266(1), 87-95.
- Chalaturnyk, R.J. Scott, J.D. Ozum, B. (2002). Management of oil sands tailings. *Petroleum Science and Technology*, 20(9), 1025-1046.
- Chinathamby, K., Reina, R.D., Bailey, P.C.E., Lees, B.K. (2006). Effects of salinity on the survival, growth and development of tadpoles of the brown tree frog, *Litoria ewingii*. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, *54*(2), 97-105.
- Clark, R.G., Pasternack, D. S. (1932). Hot water separation of bitumen from Alberta bituminous sand. *Industrial Engineering Chemistry*, 24(12), 1410-1416.
- Clemente, J. S., Fedorak, P. M. (2005). A review of the occurrence, analyses, toxicity, and biodegradation of naphthenic acids. *Chemosphere*, *60*(5), 585-600.
- Cooke, A.S. (1972). The effects of ddt, dieldrin and 2-4d on amphibian spawn and tadpoles. *Environmental Pollution*, *3*(1), 51-68.
- Cooke, A.S. (1981). Tadpoles as indicators of harmful levels of pollution in the field. *Environmental Pollution. Series A, Ecological and Biological, 25*(2), 123-133.
- Christy, M. T., Dickman, C. R. (2002). Effects of salinity on tadpoles of the green and golden bell frog (*Litoria aurea*). *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 23(1), 1-11.
- Crowe, A. U., Han, B., Kermode, A. R., Bendell-Young, L I., Plant, A. L. (2001). Effects of oil sands effluent on cattail and clover: photosynthesis and the level of stress proteins. *Environmental Pollution*, 113(3), 311-322.
- Daly, C. A. (2007). CT demonstration ponds: Comparing water chemistry in the 4M-CT wetlands during flow and non-flow conditions. Technical Report. Suncor Energy Inc., Fort McMurray, AB.
- Degitz, S. J., Holcombe, G. W., Flynn, K. M., Kosian, P. A., Korte, J. J., Tietge, J. E. (2005). Progress towards development of an amphibian-based thyroid screening assay using *Xenopus laevis*. Organismal and thyroidal responses to the model compounds 6propylthiouracil, methimazole, and thyroxine. *Toxicological Sciences*, 87(2), 353-364.

- Denver, R. J. (1997). Environmental stress as a developmental cue: Corticotropin-releasing hormone is a proximate mediator of adaptive phenotypic plasticity in amphibian metamorphosis. *Hormones and Behavior*, *31*(2), 169-179.
- Denver, R. J. (1998). Hormonal correlates of environmentally induced metamorphosis in the western spadefoot toad, *Scaphiopus hammondii*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *110*(3), 326-336.
- Diana, S.G., Resetarits, W.J., Schaeffer, D.J, Beckman, K.B., Beasley, V.R. (2000). Effects of atrazine on amphibian growth and survival in artificial aquatic communities. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *19*(12), 2961-2967.
- Eaton, B.R., Eaves, S., Stevens, C., Paszkowski, C. (2004). Deformity levels in wild populations of the wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*) in three ecoregions of western Canada. *Journal of Herpetology*, *38*(2), 283-287.
- Eaton, B. R., Tonn, W. M., Paszkowski, C. A., Danylchuk, A. J., Boss, S. M. (2005). Indirect effects of fish winterkills on amphibian populations in boreal lakes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *83*(12), 1532-1539.
- ECT. (1995). Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, 4th Ed. Tar Sands. Volume 23. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY, USA.
- Einstein, N. (2006). Athabasca oil sands map. Wikimedia Foundation Ltd. Available from: http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/Image:Athabasca_Oil_Sands_map.png. (accessed November 31, 2008).
- Fort, D.J., Propst, T.L., Stover, E.L., Helgen, J.C., Levey, R.B., Gallagher, K., Burkhardt, J.G. (1999). Effects of pond water, sediment, and sediment extracts from Minnesota and Vermont, USA, on early development and metamorphosis of *Xenopus*. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 18(10), 2305-2315.
- Fort, D.J., Thomas, J.H., Rogers, R.L., Noll, A., Spaulding, C.D., Guiney, P.D., Weeks, J.A. (2004). Evaluation of the developmental and reproductive toxicity of methoxychlor using an anuran (*Xenopus tropicalis*) chronic exposure model. *Toxicological Sciences*, 81(2), 443-453.
- Fort, D. J., Degitz, S., Tietge, J., Touart, L.W. (2007). The hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis in frogs and its role in frog development and reproduction. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, *37*(1), 117-161.
- Franklin, J. A., Renault, S., Croser, C., Zwiazek, J. J., MacKinnon, M. (2002). Jack pine growth and elemental composition are affected by saline tailings water. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *31*(2), 648-653.

- Freeman, J.L., Rayburn, A.L. (2005). Developmental impact of atrazine on metamorphing *Xenopus laevis* as revealed by nuclear analysis and morphology. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 24(7), 1648-1653.
- FTFC (Fine Tailings Fundamentals Consortium). (1995). Volume 1. Clark Hot Water Extraction Fine Tailings. *In: Advances in Oil Sands Tailings Research*, Alberta Department of Energy, Oil Sands and Research Division, Alberta Department of Energy, Oil Sands and Research Division, Edmonton, AB.
- Galton, V. A. (1988). The role of thyroid-hormone in amphibian development. *American Zoologist*, 28(2), 309-318.
- Galton, V. A. (1992). The role of throid-hormone in amphibian metamorphosis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *3*(3), 96-100.
- Gauthier, L., Tardy, E., Mouchet, F., Marty, J. (2004). Biomonitoring of the genotoxic potential (micronucleus assay) and detoxifying activity (EROD induction) in the River Dadou France), using the amphibian *Xenopus laevis*. *Science of the Total Environment*, *323* (1-3), 47-61.
- Gentes, M.L. (2006). Health assessment of tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*) nesting on the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta. M.Sc Thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Gentes, M.L., Waldner, C., Papp, Z., Smits, J.E.G. (2006). Effects of oil sands tailings compounds and harsh weather on mortality rates, growth and detoxification efforts in nestling tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*). *Environmental Pollution*, *142*(1), 24-33.
- Gentes, M.L., Waldner, C., Papp, Z., Smits, J.E.G. (2007). Effects of exposure to naphthenic acids in tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*) on the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta, Canada. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A*, 70(14), 1182-1190.
- Goksoyr, A., Forlin, B. (1992). The cytochrome-p-450 system in fish, aquatic toxicology, and environmental monitoring. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 22(4), 287-311.
- Gosner, K. L. (1960). A simplified table for staging anuran embryos and larvae with notes on identification. *Herpetolgica*, 16(2), 183-190.
- Government of Alberta. (2002). Wood frog (*Rana sylvatica*). Sustainable Resource Development, Government of Alberta. Available from: http://www.srd.alberta.ca/fishwildlife/wildlifeinalberta/amphibiansalberta/woodfrog.aspx (accessed December 2, 2008).
- Gulley, J.R., MacKinnon, M.D. (1993). Fine tails reclamation utilizing a wet-landscape approach. Pages 1-2 *in* AOSTRA, Alberta Chamber of Resources, Energy, Mines, and Resources, Edmonton, AB.

- Gurney, K.E., Williams, T.D., Smits, J.E.G., Wayland, M., Trudeau, S., Bendell-Young, L.I. (2005). Impact of oil-sands based wetlands on the growth of mallard (*Anas platyrhynchos*) ducklings. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 24(2), 457-463.
- Gupta, N., Hitchings, A., Weber, L., Wickstrom, M. (2007). Two novel biomarkers in developing wood frogs. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. Learned Discourse*.
- Gutleb, A. C., Appelman, J., Bronkhorst, M., van den Berg, Johan H.J., Murk, A. J. (2000). Effects of oral exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) on the development and metamorphosis of two amphibian species (*Xenopus laevis* and *Rana temporaria*). *The Science of the Total Environment*, 262(1-2), 147-157.
- Harris, M.L., Bishop, C.A., Struger, J., Ripley, B., Bogart, J.P. (1998). The functional integrity of northern leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*) and green frog (*Rana clamitans*) populations in orchard wetlands. II. Effects of pesticides and eutrophic conditions on early life stage development. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 17(7), 1351-1363.
- Harris, M.L., Chora, L., Bishop, C.A., Bogart, J.P. (2000). Species- and age-related differences in susceptibility to pesticide exposure for two amphibians, *Rana pipiens*, and *Bufo americanus*. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 64(2), 263-270.
- Harris, M.L., Bishop, C.A., McDaniel, T.V. (2001). Assessment of rates of deformity in wild frog populations using in situ cages: A case study of leopard frogs (*Rana pipiens*) in Ontario, Canada. *Biomarkers*, 6(1), 52-63.
- Havelkova, M., Randak, T., Zlabek V., Krijt, J., Kroupova, H., Pulkrabova, J., Svobodova, Z. (2007). Biochemical markers for assessing aquatic contamination. *Sensors*, 7(11), 2599-2611.
- Helbing, C. C., Ovaska, K., Ji, L. (2006). Evaluation of the effect of acetochlor on thyroid hormone receptor gene expression in the brain and behavior of *Rana catesbeiana* tadpoles. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *80*(1), 42-51.
- Hemmings, S. J., Storey, K. B. (1996). Characterization of gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase in the liver of the frog 3. Response to freezing and thawing in the freeze-tolerant wood frog *Rana* sylvatica. Cell Biochemistry and Function, 14(2), 139-148.
- Herman, D. C., Fedorak, P. M., MacKinnon, M. D., Costerton, J. W. (1994). Biodegradation of naphthenic acids by microbial-populations indigenous to oil sands tailings. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 40(6), 467-477.
- Hogan, N. S., Lean, D., Trudeau, V. (2006). Exposures to estradiol, ethinylestradiol, and octylphenol affect survival and growth of *Rana pipiens* and *Rana sylvatica* tadpoles. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A*, 69(16), 1555-1569.

- Holowenko, F. M., MacKinnon, M. D., Fedorak, P. M. (2001). Naphthenic acids and surrogate naphthenic acids in methanogenic microcosms. *Water Research*, *35*(11), 2595-2606.
- Holowenko, F. M., MacKinnon, M. D., Fedorak, P. M. (2002). Characterization of naphthenic acids in oil sands wastewaters by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Water Research*, *36*(11), 2843-2855.
- Hong, M., Chen, L., Sun, X., Gu, S., Zhang, L., Chen, Y. (2007). Metabolic and immune responses in Chinese mitten-handed crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*) juveniles exposed to elevated ambient ammonia. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 145(3), 363-369.
- Huang, H., Cai, L., Remo, B. F., Brown, D. D. (2001). Timing of metamorphosis and the onset of the negative feedback loop between the thyroid gland and the pituitary is controlled by type II iodothyronine deiodinase in *Xenopus laevis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(13), 7348-7353.
- Huang, D., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Xie, Z., Ji, W. (2007). Assessment of the genotoxicity in toad Bufo raddei exposed to petrochemical contaminants in Lanzhou Region, China. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 629(2), 81-88.
- Kelly, J. M., Janz, D. M. (2008). Altered energetics and parasitism in juvenile northern pike (*Esox lucius*) inhabiting metal-mining contaminated lakes. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 70(3), 357-369.
- Kennedy, S. W., Jones, S. P. (1994). Simultaneous measurement of cytochrome P450 1A catalytic activity and total protein-concentration with a fluorescence plate reader. *Analytical Biochemistry* 222 (1), 217-223. *in* Olsgard, M.L. (2007). Toxicological evaluation of inhalation exposure to benzene and toluene in a raptorial bird, the American kestrel (*Falco sparverius*). MSc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Klaassen, C.D. (2001). Casarett and Doull's Toxicology, 6th Ed. The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. USA.
- Kupferberg, S. J. (1997). Bullfrog (*Rana catesbeiana*) invasion of a California river: The role of larval competition. *Ecology*, 78(6), 1736-1751.
- Lai, J. W. S., Pinto, L. J., Kiehlmann, E., Bendell-Young, L. I., Moore, M. M. (1996). Factors that affect the degradation of naphthenic acids in oil sands wastewater by indigenous microbial communities. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 15(9), 1482-1491.
- Leung, S.S.-C., MacKinnon, M.D., Smith, R.E.H. (2001). Aquatic reclamation in the Athabasca Oil Sands, Canada: Naphthenate and salt effects on phytoplankton communities. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 20(7), 1532-1543.

- Leung, S. S., MacKinnon, M. D., Smith, R. E. H. (2003). The ecological effects of naphthenic acids and salts on phytoplankton from the Athabasca Oil Sands Region. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 62(1), 11-26.
- Levesque, H. M., Moon, T.W., Campbell, P. G. C., Hontela, A. (2002). Seasonal variation in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism of yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) chronically exposed to metals in the field. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 60(3-4), 257-267. *in* Kelly, J. M., Janz, D. M. (2008). Altered energetics and parasitism in juvenile northern pike (*Esox lucius*) inhabiting metal-mining contaminated lakes. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 70(3), 357-369.
- Madill, R.E.A., Orzechowski, M.T., Chen, G., Brownlee, B.G., Bunce, N.J. (2001). Preliminary risk assessment of the wet landscape option for reclamation of oil sands mine tailings: Bioassays with mature fine tailings pore water. *Environmental Toxicology*, *16*(3), 197-208.
- Materna, E. J., Rabeni, C. F., LaPoint, T. W. (1995). Effects of the synthetic pyrethroid insecticide, esfenvalerate, on larval leopard frogs (*Rana spp*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 14(4), 613-622.
- McGowan, M.W., Artiss, J.D., Strandbergh, D.R., Zak, B. (1983). A peroxidase-coupled method for the colorimetric determination of serum triglycerides. *Clinical Chemistry 29*: 538-542 in Bennett, P.M. (2006). Effects of uranium mining and milling effluents on juvenile fish bioenergetics, growth, and overwinter survival. M.Sc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Mikula, R.J., Kasperski, K.L. Burns, R. MacKinnon, M.D. (1996). Nature and fate of oil sands fine tailings. *Advances in Chemistry Series*, 251, 677-723.
- Morey, S., Reznick, D. (2001). Effects of larval density on postmetamorphic spadefoot toads (*Spea hammondii*). *Ecology*, 82(2), 510-522.
- Nero, V., Farwell, A., Lee, L. E. J., Van Meer, T., MacKinnon, M. D., Dixon, D. G. (2006a). The effects of salinity on naphthenic acid toxicity to yellow perch: Gill and liver histopathology. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *65*(2), 252-264.
- Nero, V., Farwell, A., Lister, A., Van Der Kraak, G., Lee, L. E. J., Van Meer, T. (2006b). Gill and liver histopathological changes in yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) and goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) exposed to oil sands process-affected water. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 63(3), 365-377.
- Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center. (2006). Checklist of Amphibian Species and Identification Guide: Wood Frog (*Rana sylvatica*). U.S. Geological Survey. Available from: http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/herps/amphibid/species/wood1.htm (accessed December 2, 2008).

- Olsgard, M.L. (2007). Toxicological evaluation of inhalation exposure to benzene and toluene in a raptorial bird, the American kestrel (*Falco sparverius*). M.Sc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- (OECD) Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2008). OECD Guideline No. 46. Guideline for the testing of chemicals. AMA draft Test Guideline. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Washington, DC.
- Opitz, R., Braunbeck., T., Bogi, C., Pickford, D. B., Nentwig, G., Oehlmann, J., Tooi, Osamu., Lutz, I., Kloas, W. (2005). Description and initial evaluation of a *Xenopus* metamorphosis assay for detection of thyroid system-disrupting activities of environmental compounds. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 24(3), 653-664.
- Owen, J. C., Sogge, M. K., Kern M. D. (2005). Habitat and sex differences in physiological condition of breeding southwestern willow flycatchers (*Epidonax traillii extimus*). *The Auk*, *122*(4), 1261-1271.
- Papp, Z., Bortolotti, G. R., Smits, J. E. (2005). Organochlorine contamination and physiological responses in nestling tree swallows in Point Pelee National Park, Canada. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 49(4), 563-568.
- Peters, L. E., MacKinnon, M., Van Meer, T., van den Heuvel, M. R., Dixon, D. G. (2007). Effects of oil sands process-affected waters and naphthenic acids on yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) and Japanese medaka (*Orizias latipes*) embryonic development. *Chemosphere*, 67(11), 2177-2183.
- Picard-Aitken, M., Fournier, H., Pariseau, R., Marcogliese, D. J., Cyr, D. G. (2007). Thyroid disruption in walleye (*Sander vitreus*) exposed to environmental contaminants: Cloning and use of iodothyronine deiodinases as molecular biomarkers. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 83(3), 200-211.
- Pollet, I., Bendell-Young, L. I. (2000). Amphibians as indicators of wetland quality in wetlands formed from oil sands effluent. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *19*(10), 2589-2597.
- Quagraine, .E.K., Peterson, H.G., Headley, J.V. (2005). In situ bioremediation of napthenic acids contaminated tailings pond waters in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region - demonstrated field studies and plausible options: a review. Journal of Environmental Science and Health 40:685-722.
- Renault, S., Lait, C., Zwiazek, J.J., MacKinnon, M. (1998). Effect of high salinity tailings water produced from gypsum treatment of oil sands tailings on plants of the boreal forest. *Environmental Pollution 102*(2-3):177-184.

- Renault, S. (2005). Tamarack response to salinity: Effects of sodium chloride ion on growth, pigment, and soluble carbohydrate levels. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *35*(12), 2806-2812.
- Rickwood, C.J., Dube, M.G., Weber, L.P., Lux, S. Janz, D.M. 2008. Assessing effects of a mining and municipal sewage effluent mixture on fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) reproduction using a novel, field based trophic-transfer artificial stream. *Aquatic Toxicology* 86(31):272-286.
- Rios-Lopez, N. (2008). Effects of increased salinity on tadpoles of two anurans from a Caribbean coastal wetland in relation to their natural abundance. *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 29(1), 7-18.
- Rogers, V. V., Wickstrom, M., Liber, K., MacKinnon, M. D. (2002). Acute and subchronic mammalian toxicity of naphthenic acids from oil sands tailings. *Toxicological Sciences*, 66(2), 347-355.
- Rogers, V. V. (2003). Mammalian toxicity of naphthenic acids derived from the Athabasca oil sands. PhD thesis. University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Rot-Nikcevic, I., Wassersug, R. J. (2004). Arrested development in *Xenopus laevis* tadpoles: How size constrains metamorphosis. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(12), 2133-2145.
- Schramm, L.L., Stasuik, E.N., MacKinnon, M.D. (2000). Surfactants in Athabasca Oil Sands slurry conditioning, floatation recovery, and tailings processes. Chapter 10 *in* L.L. Schramm editor. Surfactants: fundamentals and applications in the petroleum industry. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, NY, USA.
- Scott, A.C. Fedorak, P.M. (2004). Petroleum coking: a review of coking processes and the characteristics, stability, and environmental aspects of coke produced by the oil sands companies. Suncor Energy Inc., Syncrude Canada Ltd. and Canadian Natural Resources Ltd. AB.
- Scott, D. E., Casey, E. D., Donovan, M. F., Lynch, T. K. (2007). Amphibian lipid levels at metamorphosis correlate to post-metamorphic terrestrial survival. *Oecologia*, 153(3), 521-532.
- Sharma, B., Patino, R. (2008). Exposure of *Xenopus laevis* tadpoles to cadmium reveals concentration-dependent bimodal effects on growth and monotonic effects on development and thyroid gland activity. *Toxicological Sciences*, *105*(1), 51-58.
- Shi, Y-B. (2000). Amphibian Metamorphosis. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. New York, NY, USA.
- Shi, Y-B., Wong, J., Puzianowska-Kuznicka, M., Stolow, M. A. (1996). Tadpole competence and tissue-specific temporal regulation of amphibian metamorphosis: Roles of thyroid hormone and its receptors. *BioEssays*, 18(5), 391-399.

- Shugart, L.R., McCarthy, J.F., Halbrook, R.S. (1992). Biological markers of environmental and ecological contamination an overview. *Risk Analysis 12*: 353-359. *in* Olsgard, M.L. (2007). Toxicological evaluation of inhalation exposure to benzene and toluene in a raptorial bird, the American kestrel (*Falco sparverius*). M.Sc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Siwik, P.L., VanMeer, T., MacKinnon, M.D., Paszkowski, C. (2000). Growth of fathead minnows in oil sand-processed wastewater in laboratory and field. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 19(7), 1837-1845.
- Smits, J.E.G., Blakley, B.R., Wobeser, G.A., (1996). Immunotoxicity studies in mink (*Mustela vison*) chronically exposed to dietary bleached Kraft pulp mill effluent. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 32(2), 199-208
- Smits, J.E., Wayland, M.E., Miller, M.J., Liber, K., Trudeau, S. (2000). Reproductive, immune, and physiological end points in tree swallows on reclaimed oil sands mine sites. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *19*(12), 2951-2960.
- Smits, J.E.G., Fernie, K.J., Bortolotti, G.R., Marchant, T.A. (2002). Thyroid hormone suppression and cell mediated immunomodulation in American kestrels (*Falco sparverius*) Exposed to PCBs. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 43, 338-344.
- Snodgrass, J. W., Hopkins, W. A., Broughton, J., Gwinn, D., Baionno, J. A., Burger, J. (2004). Species-specific responses of developing anurans to coal combustion wastes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 66(2), 171-182.
- Sokal, R.R., Rohlf, F.J. (2003). Biometry: the Principles and Practice of Statistics in Biological Research (third ed.), W.H. Freeman and Company, New York, USA pp. 446–447.
- Speight, J.G. (1999). The chemistry and technology of petroleum, 3rd Ed. Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York, NY, USA.
- Speight, J.G. (2007). The chemistry and technology of petroleum, 4th Ed. CRC Press Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Squires, A.J. (2005). Ecotoxicological assessment of using coke in aquatic reclamation strategies at the Alberta oil sands. M.Sc thesis, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK.
- Storey, J. M., Storey, K. B. (1992). Natural freeze tolerance in ectothermic vertebrates. Annual Review of Physiology, 54, 619-637.
- Storrs, S.I., Kiesecker, J.M. (2004). Survivorship patterns of larval amphibians exposed to low concentrations of atrazine. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *112*(10), 1054-1057.
- Tata, J. R. (2006). Amphibian metamorphosis as a model for the developmental actions of thyroid hormone. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 246(1-2), 10-20.

- Toor, N., Han, X., Franz, E., MacKinnon, M., Martin, J., Liber, K. (2008) Biodegradation of complex naphthenic acid mixtures and a probable link between congener profiles and aquatic toxicity. Platform Presentation. 35th Annual Aquatic Toxicity Workshop, Saskatoon, S.K.
- van den Heuvel, M.R.M., Power, J., Richards, J., MacKinnon, M. D., Dixon, D.G. (2000). Disease and gill lesions in yellow perch (*Perca flavenscens*) exposed to oil sands miningassociated waters. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 46: 334-341.
- van der Oost, R., Beyer, J., Vermeulen, N. P. E. (2003). Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: A review. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *13*(2), 57-149.
- Venturino, A., Rosenbaum. E., Caballero De Castro, A., Anguiano, O. L., Gauna, L., De Schroeder, T. F., De D'Angelo, A. M. P. (2003). Biomarkers of effect in toads and frogs. *Biomarkers*, 8(3-4), 167-186.
- Wassersug, R.J. (1997). Where the tadpole meets the world observations and speculations on biomechanical and biochemical factors that influence metamorphosis in anurans. *American Zoologist*, *37*(2), 124-136.
- Whyte, J. J., Jung, R.E., Schmitt, C. J., Tillitt, D. E. (2000). Ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) activity in fish as a biomarker of chemical exposure. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, *30*(4), 347-570.
- Zhang, F., Degitz, S. J., Holcombe G. W., Kosian, P. A., Tietge, J., Veldhoen, N., Helbing, C. C. (2006). Evaluation of gene expression endpoints in the context of a *Xenopus laevis* metamorphosis-based bioassay to detect thyroid hormone disruptors. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 76(1), 24-36.